GOVERNOR



BRIAN CALLEY LT. GOVERNOR

December 22, 2016

Ms. Victoria Wachino Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Children and Adults Health Programs Group Mail Stop: S2-01-16 7500 Security Boulevard Baltimore, MD 21244

RE: Proposed §1115 Demonstration, Brain Injury Waiver

Dear Ms. Wachino:

The Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) is requesting approval of its proposed §1115 Demonstration, Brain Injury Waiver.

This proposed §1115 Demonstration will allow MDHHS to serve individuals with qualifying brain injuries who, but for the provision of these services would otherwise be served in an institutional setting.

The Brain Injury Waiver will provide critical brain injury-specific rehabilitation and support in the post-acute injury period with the goal of assisting the participant to be as independent as possible. The demonstration will help individuals with brain injuries reestablish themselves within their community through the provision of tools, skills, and coping mechanisms needed after suffering a brain injury. Ultimately, individuals who participate in the Brain Injury Waiver will experience an improved quality of life.

If you have any questions, please contact Jacqueline Coleman at (517) 284-1190 or via e-mail at <u>ColemanJ@michigan.gov</u>.

Thank you for your consideration of this request.

Sincerely,

der

Rick Snyder Governor

cc: Nick Lyon, Director, Michigan Department of Health and Human Services

# BRAIN INJURY WAIVER



12/01/2016

# **1115** Demonstration Application

### Submitted to:

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services

Submitted by:

State of Michigan

Governor Snyder

Nick Lyon, Director

Michigan Department of Health and Human Services



## Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION1
SECTION I – PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
SECTION II – DEMONSTRATION ELIGIBILITY
SECTION III – DEMONSTRATION BENEFITS AND COST SHARING REQUIREMENTS9
SECTION IV – DELIVERY SYSTEM AND PAYMENT RATES FOR SERVICES
SECTION V – IMPLEMENTATION OF DEMONSTRATION14
SECTION VI – DEMONSTRATION FINANCING AND BUDGET NEUTRALITY
SECTION VII – LIST OF PROPOSED WAIVERS AND EXPENDITURE AUTHORITIES
SECTION VIII – PUBLIC NOTICE
SECTION IX – DEMONSTRATION ADMINISTRATION
ATTACHMENT A – LONG TERM SERVICES AND SUPPORTS FORM
ATTACHMENT B – BENEFIT SPECIFICATIONS AND PROVIDER QUALIFICATIONS
ATTACHMENT C – BRAIN INJURY SERVICES AND RATES
ATTACHMENT D – BUDGET NEUTRAILITY FORM
ATTACHMENT E – DEMONSTRATION FINANCING FORM
ATTACHMENT F – BRAIN INJURY WAIVER WORKBOOK
ATTACHMENT G – PUBLIC NOTICES

[This page intentionally left blank]

### **1115 DEMONSTRATION APPLICATION**

### INTRODUCTION

Michigan is committed to providing high quality services and supports to residents who have suffered a brain injury. The Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) is pleased to present Michigan's Brain Injury Waiver (BIW). The BIW provides necessary services and supports to persons suffering qualifying brain injuries who, but for the provision of these services, would otherwise be served in an institutional setting. The program provides critical brain injury-specific rehabilitation and support in the post-acute injury period with the goal of assisting the participant in becoming capable of living in the most independent setting.

### SECTION I – PROGRAM DESCRIPTION

# 1) Provide a summary of the proposed Demonstration program, and how it will further the objectives of title XIX and/or title XXI of the Social Security Act (the Act).

The Brain Injury Waiver focuses on specialized rehabilitation and supportive services required upon release from an acute care setting following a moderate or severe brain injury. These services are for participants who can benefit from the advanced level of rehabilitative therapies and other services offered. Specialized rehabilitation services can be obtained in the following settings: transitional residential (TR), outpatient, or home and community-based (HCB). All providers for BIW services must have appropriate accreditation, certifications, or specialized training in serving individuals with brain injuries.

Appropriate accreditation, certifications, or specialized training include:

- Accreditation by the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities (CARF) with:
  - o Medical Rehabilitation certification for inpatient services,
  - Medical Rehabilitation certification for outpatient services, or
  - o Medical Rehabilitation certification for both inpatient and outpatient services
- Medicare and Medicaid certification as Comprehensive Outpatient Rehabilitation Facility (CORF)
- Medicare accreditation as a Rehabilitation Agency or Outpatient Physical Therapy program as verified by the American Association for Accreditation of Ambulatory Surgery Facilities (AAAASF)
- In areas of the state where there is limited or no access to CARF, CORF, or AAAASF accredited or certified providers with additional accreditation or certification in Brain Injury, MDHHS may allow individual providers who are certified as Brain Injury Specialists (CBIS) through the Brain Injury Association of America's Academy of Certified Brain Injury Specialists (ACBIS) and who work in a health care program with additional licensing or accreditation to become brain injury providers.

BIW has the capacity to serve up to 100 individuals aged 21 and older during the fiscal year with an initial budget of approximately \$2.5 million for the first year of the program. Twenty of the 100 program enrollments are reserved to ensure capacity to serve participants in a TR rehabilitation setting. Upon completion of rehabilitation, participants who require additional brain injury specific services to build upon or maintain skills developed will receive home and community-based services (HCBS). Not all BIW participants will require the transitional residential rehabilitation. Transitional residential, outpatient, and HCB services will be available to individuals upon enrollment.

MDHHS will prioritize enrollment for the BIW as follows:

- Applicants who otherwise qualify for BIW enrollment, are receiving brain injury specific services through the early and periodic screening, diagnosis, and treatment (EPSDT) program, and will age-out of the EPSDT program before completing brain injury specific treatment and other services will receive priority for enrollment. Usually this occurs upon the applicant's 21st birthday. It is necessary to provide priority to these individuals so that their treatment is not interrupted by a birthday and to assure the best success for regaining independence. Brain injury specific services are not otherwise available to this population.
- 2) Applicants with a brain injury that is traumatic in nature will receive priority for enrollment over applicants with a non-traumatic acquired brain injury to maximize available resources. For the purposes of this demonstration, traumatic and acquired brain injuries are defined as follows:
  - a. A traumatic brain injury (TBI) is defined as a blunt force trauma to the brain. The Center for Disease Control defines a traumatic brain injury as "caused by a bump, blow or jolt to the head or a penetrating head injury that disrupts the normal function of the brain." Injuries such as gunshot wounds, falls or motor vehicle accidents involving injuries to the head are considered TBIs. Explosive blasts can also cause a TBI, particularly among those who serve in the U.S. military.
  - b. An acquired brain injury (ABI) is an injury to the brain, which is not hereditary, congenital degenerative, or induced by birth trauma. Acquired brain injuries occur after birth, but are not caused by an external force and are non-traumatic. Examples of acquired brain injuries include stroke, near drowning, substance abuse overdose, hypoxic or anoxic brain injury, tumors, neurotoxins, electric shock, or lightning strike.

A brain injury does not include damage to the brain resulting from neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease, dementia, etc.

3) Applicants closest to their eighteen months post injury date will have priority over those with a more recent injury. This prioritization is necessary to assure individuals do not exceed the eighteen months post injury window for BIW enrollment.

BIW participation is limited to two years per enrollment for each individual. Individuals previously served by the BIW who have suffered a new brain injury may reapply for and reenroll in the program. Discharge from the program will be based upon the individual meeting any of the following criteria:

- The individual is not eligible for Michigan Medicaid
- The individual died
- The individual is not amenable to treatment
- The individual is non-compliant with program or facility rules
- The individual has been institutionalized in a hospital or nursing facility for more than 30 days
- The individual enrolled in a hospice program
- The individual moved out of the program service area
- The individual has not shown progress for at least 30 days while enrolled in the program
- The individual chose to disenroll
- The individual transferred to another program and no longer requires BIW services
- The individual no longer meets program criteria
- The individual refused to accept program services
- The individual met program goals as established in the person-centered plan

All participants will develop a program discharge plan as a part of their person-centered plan. The discharge plan will be altered as necessary based upon the individual's goals and outcomes. Individuals who are within the last six months of their twenty-four month BIW enrollment period will begin intensive discharge planning. These individuals will most likely need to be transitioned to other home and community-based services programs. The last six months of BIW enrollment will include planning for enrollment in the most appropriate program for the individual based upon their choice and eligibility for other programs. Every effort will be made to assure a smooth transition out of the BIW program and into other Long Term Supports and Services (LTSS) programs, as needed, without a lapse between BIW and other program enrollment.

### 2) Include the rationale for the Demonstration.

The purpose of this Demonstration is to reduce nursing facility recidivism for individuals with a qualifying brain injury and increase long-term functioning, independence and quality of life for program participants. It is designed specifically to address the needs of individuals with qualifying brain injuries who may benefit from the services and supports in this Demonstration. Without specialized post-acute rehabilitation, individuals with brain injuries often do not show improvement in these areas. Studies have found that with specialized post-acute rehabilitation, up to 80% of individuals with a brain injury can return to work (Malec JE, 1996). Providing intensive services that will improve independence, functionality, and quality of life will lower the individual's dependence upon LTSS over their lifetime.

#### Michigan Brain Injury Waiver

3) Describe the hypotheses that will be tested/evaluated during the Demonstration's approval period and the plan by which the State will use to test them.

**<u>Hypothesis 1</u>**: Individuals participating in the BIW program will demonstrate successful rehabilitation outcomes.

Evaluations:

- At least 75% of the BIW participants who complete their person-centered rehabilitation services will demonstrate improvement in their functional ability.
- At least 75% of the BIW participants will achieve 75% of their individual rehabilitation goals after one year of enrollment or upon discharge from the program, whichever comes first.

**Hypothesis 2:** BIW participants will demonstrate increased independence and community participation.

Evaluations:

- At least 75% of the BIW participants will report increased independence with or without the use of compensatory strategies to address deficiencies in thinking, memory, learning, coordination and balance, senses (speech, hearing vision), or emotions.
- At least 75% of the BIW participants will report increased community participation at each assessment, or at least every six months during enrollment in the BIW.

**Hypothesis 3:** Total annual Medicaid costs for BIW participants will be less than or equal to the costs of services had the participants received institutional care.

Evaluation: Aggregate annual Medicaid costs for current and former BIW participants will be less than the Medicaid costs for a comparable group of beneficiaries receiving institutional care.

Hypothesis 4: BIW participants will report increases in quality of life during their enrollment in the BIW.

Evaluation: BIW participants will report improved quality of life at each assessment, or least every six months during enrollment in the BIW.

4) Describe where the Demonstration will operate, i.e., statewide, or in specific regions within the State. If the Demonstration will not operate statewide, please indicate the geographic areas/regions of the State where the Demonstration will operate.

The BIW Demonstration will operate statewide.

### 5) Include the proposed timeframe for the Demonstration.

The proposed timeframe for this Demonstration is five years, beginning April 1, 2017 and operating through March 31, 2022.

# 6) Describe whether the Demonstration will affect and/or modify other components of the State's current Medicaid and CHIP programs outside of eligibility, benefits, cost sharing or delivery systems.

The Demonstration will not affect or modify other components of Michigan's current Medicaid and CHIP programs outside of eligibility, benefits, cost sharing or delivery systems.

## SECTION II – DEMONSTRATION ELIGIBILITY

### 1) Include a chart identifying any populations whose eligibility will be affected by the Demonstration.

Wandatory State Plan Gloups			
Eligibility Group Name	Social Security Act and CFR	Income Level	
	Citations		
Individuals Receiving SSI	1902(a)(10)(A)(i)(II)(aa)	No income limit	
	42CFR 435.120		
Individuals Receiving Mandatory State	42 CFR 435.130	No income limit	
Supplements			
Qualified Medicare	1902(a)(10)(E)(i)	0 – 100% of the FPL	
Beneficiaries	1905(p)		
Specified Low Income	1902(a)(10)(E)(iii)	100 – 120% of the	
Medicare Beneficiaries	1905(p)(3)(A)(ii)	FPL	
Qualifying Individuals	1902(a)(10)(E)(iv)	121 – 135% of the	
	1905(p)(3)(A)(ii)	FPL	

#### Mandatory State Plan Groups

### **Optional State Plan Groups**

Elizibility Crown Name			
Eligibility Group Name	Social Security Act and CFR	Income Level	
	Citations		
Independent Foster Care Adolescents	1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(XVII)	No income limit	
(for ages 21-26)	1905(w)		
Individuals Receiving Home and	42 CFR 435.217	0 – 300% of the FBR	
Community-Based Services under	1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(VI)		
Institutional Rules			
Optional State Supplement Recipients –	1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(IV)	No income limit	
1634 States, and SSI Criteria States with	42 CFR 435.232		
1616 Agreements			
Poverty Level Aged or Disabled	1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(X)	0 – 100% of the FPL	
	1902(m)(1)		
Individuals Eligible for Home and	1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(XXII)	0 – 300% of the FBR	
Community-Based Services	1915(i)		
Individuals for Home and Community-	1902(a)(10)(A)(ii)(XXII)	0 – 300% of the FBR	
Based Services – Special Income Level	1915(i)		
Individuals at or below 133% FPL Age 19	1902(a)(10)(A)(i)(VIII)	0 – 133% of the FPL	
through 64	Early implementation option		

Eligibility Group Name	Social Security Act and CFR	Income Level		
	Citations			
Medically Needy Parents and Other	1902(a)(10)(C)	Parents: 0 – 135% of the		
Caretaker Relatives	42 CFR 435.310	FPL Caretaker Relatives:		
		0 – 54% of the FPL		
Medically Needy Aged	1902(a)(10)(C)	0 – 100% of the FPL		
	42 CFR 435.320 and 435.330			
Medically Needy Blind	1902(a)(10)(C)	0 – 100% of the FPL		
	42 CFR 435.322 and 435.330			
Medically Needy Disabled	1902(a)(10)(C)	0 – 100% of the FPL		
	42 CFR 435.324 and 435.330			

### Madically Needy Deputations

Additional BIW Admission Criteria:

MDHHS will evaluate the criteria listed below for each person with a brain injury who applies for the Brain Injury Waiver. All applicants for the BIW must meet each criterion at the time of application. MDHHS will not consider individuals who do not meet all criteria specified below for enrollment in the BIW.

- 1. The individual has active Michigan Medicaid eligibility, or has all of the following:
  - a. A completed Michigan Medicaid application with all necessary verifications submitted to the MDHHS Field Office awaiting review, and
  - b. Reasonable assurance the MDHHS Field Office will likely approve the submitted application, and
  - c. The MDHHS Field Office has registered the application on Bridges, as verified by MDHHS staff.
- 2. Medical records from the acute or institutional care setting, hereafter referred to as "care setting", immediately prior to application for the BIW must demonstrate all of the following:
  - a. The injury occurred no more than 18 months before the BIW admission date or start of BI-specific services through the EPSDT program.
  - b. The individual is at least 21 years old.
  - c. The individual has been determined to have a significant functional or cognitive impairment as identified by a comprehensive assessment and must require long-term support services.
  - d. The individual must have functional or cognitive limitations that are a direct result of a brain injury as documented by a physician, neuropsychologist, or other qualified health professional.

- e. The individual has the ability to maintain new memory, including skills learned at the setting such as coping mechanisms or other techniques to compensate for identified functional or cognitive deficits.
- f. The individual does not require continuous one-on-one attention to remain free from harm within the care setting.
- g. The individual is willing and able to participate in targeted brain injury therapies and the person-centered plan developed after enrollment.
- h. The individual does not exhibit behavior that seriously jeopardizes the health, safety, and welfare of themselves or others.
- i. The individual is not at high risk of elopement.
- j. The individual has not used illegal or abused legal substances in the care setting, or at home after discharge from the last treatment facility. For the purposes of this waiver, abuse of legal substances means that for the individual, using the legal substance creates a barrier to participating in and benefitting from intensive rehabilitation services provided through the waiver.
- 3. Individuals who, at the time of application, are no longer in an acute or institutional care setting must furnish or provide access to medical records that demonstrate the criteria specified in #2 above, either from the prior care setting, or from a current qualified health care professional. Additionally, these individuals must continue to demonstrate they meet the criteria specified in #2 above at the time of application, as documented by a qualified health care professional.
- 4. Because of the limited scope of the BIW, and the availability of other resources for individuals with the conditions listed below, the BIW will not serve individuals with the following diagnoses, diseases, or conditions that are directly related to or are the cause of their brain injury:
  - a. Complications from diabetes, such as a lack of or too much insulin
  - b. Cardiac arrest or myocardial infarction
  - c. Alzheimer's disease and similar neuro-degenerative diseases, the primary manifestation of which is dementia
  - d. Individuals whose functional and cognitive limitations are due **solely** to mental illness, substance abuse, personality disorder, hearing impairment, visual impairment, learning disabilities, behavior disorders, the aging process, or individuals with deteriorating diseases such as multiple sclerosis, muscular dystrophy, Huntington's chorea, ataxia, or cancer
- 5. When capacity allows, the state <u>may</u> serve on a limited basis, individuals with the following diagnoses, disease, or conditions that are directly related to or are the cause of their brain injury after an in-depth individual review. The individual review must support that the

#### Michigan Brain Injury Waiver

applicant is likely to benefit from BIW services and the individuals must meet all other admission criteria.

- a. Stroke, cerebral vascular accidents, or transient ischemic accidents
- b. Aneurism or other brain bleed

The following reasons will be a basis for denying enrollment in the Brain Injury Waiver:

- 1. The individual is not Medicaid eligible
- 2. The individual did not provide required medical records
- 3. The individual's brain injury occurred more than 18 months ago
- 4. The individual is under the age of 21
- 5. The individual did not have functional or cognitive impairments as a result of a brain injury
- 6. The individual did not have a need for BIW services
- 7. The individual did not have a qualifying brain injury
- 8. The individual refused enrollment
- 9. The individual did not meet admission criteria (actual criteria will be specified)
- 10. The program is at capacity and the individual has been placed on the waiting list
- 11. Other (accompanied by an explanation)

2) Describe the standards and methodologies the state will use to determine eligibility for any populations whose eligibility is changed under the Demonstration, to the extent those standards or methodologies differ from the State.

There are no changes to the standards and methodologies used to determine eligibility.

3) Specify any enrollment limits that apply for expansion populations under the Demonstration.

### N/A

4) Provide the projected number of individuals who would be eligible for the Demonstration, and indicate if the projections are based on current state programs (i.e., Medicaid State plan, or populations covered using other waiver authority, such as 1915(c)). If applicable, please specify the size of the populations currently served in those programs.

The projected number of individuals who would be eligible for the BIW is 100 per fiscal year. Projections are not based on current state programs.

5) To the extent that long term services and supports are furnished (either in institutions or the community), describe how the Demonstration will address post-eligibility treatment of income, if applicable. In addition, indicate whether the Demonstration will utilize spousal impoverishment rules under section 1924, or will utilize regular post-eligibility rules under 42 CFR 435.726 (SSI State

### and section 1634) or under 42 CFR 435.735 (209b State).

Michigan will use spousal impoverishment rules under section 1924 of the Act to determine eligibility of individuals with a community spouse. Allowance for the personal care needs of the participant is 300% of SSI, equal to the special income level for institutionalized persons. Allowance for the personal needs of a participant with a community spouse is the same as the amount used for the individual's maintenance allowance. Michigan uses the same reasonable limits as are used for regular (non-spousal) post-eligibility for incurred medical or remedial care expenses not subject to payment by a third party.

6) Describe any changes in eligibility procedures the state will use for populations under the Demonstration, including any eligibility simplifications that require 1115 authority.

N/A

7) If applicable, describe any eligibility changes that the state is seeking to undertake for the purposes of transitioning Medicaid or CHIP eligibility standards to the methodologies or standards applicable in 2014, or in light of other changes in 2014.

N/A

### SECTION III – DEMONSTRATION BENEFITS AND COST SHARING REQUIREMENTS

1) Indicate whether the benefits provided under the Demonstration differ from those provided under the Medicaid and/or CHIP State plan:

 $\boxtimes$ Yes  $\square$ No (if no, please skip questions 3 – 7)

2) Indicate whether the cost sharing requirements under the Demonstration differ from those provided under the Medicaid and/or CHIP State plan:

□Yes ⊠No (if no, please skip questions 8 - 11)

3) If changes are proposed, or if different benefit packages will apply to different eligibility groups affected by the Demonstration, please include a chart specifying the benefit package that each eligibility group will receive under the Demonstration.

N/A

4) If electing benchmark-equivalent coverage for a population, please indicate which standard is being used:

N/A

5) In addition to the Benefit Specifications and Qualifications form, please complete the following

#### Michigan Brain Injury Waiver

### chart if the Demonstration will provide benefits that differ from the Medicaid or CHIP State plan.

Beneficiaries enrolled in the BIW will have access to all applicable Medicaid State Plan services with the following exceptions:

- Hospice services
- Physical, Occupational, and Speech language pathology therapy services

Hospice services are excluded as they would be contrary to the goal of rehabilitation. The brain injury specific therapies offered through the BIW differ in scope, intensity, and provider type from Medicaid State Plan therapies as described in Section VI. Provision of both types of therapies would be a duplication of services.

### 6) Indicate whether Long Term Services and Supports will be provided.

 $\boxtimes$ Yes (if yes, please check the services that are being offered)  $\Box$ No

The LTSS provided in the BIW are:

- Targeted BIW Case Management
- Environmental Accessibility Adaptations
- Community Transition Services
- Supported Employment
- Other:
  - Brain Injury Day Treatment Program
  - o Brain Injury Transitional Residential Rehabilitation Services
  - o Brain Injury Home and Community-Based Rehabilitation Services
  - o Specialized Medical Equipment, Supplies, and Assistive Devices
  - Prevocational Services
  - Counseling

Additional information related to LTSS is found in Attachment A of the application. Additional information regarding the services listed above is found in Attachment B of the application.

# 7) Indicate whether premium assistance for employer sponsored coverage will be available through the Demonstration.

Premium assistance for employer sponsored coverage will not be available through this Demonstration.

# 8) If different from the State plan, provide the premium amounts by eligibility group and income level.

N/A

9) Include a table if the Demonstration will require copayments, coinsurance and/or deductibles that differ from the Medicaid State plan.

N/A

10) Indicate if there are any exemptions from the proposed cost sharing.

N/A

### SECTION IV – DELIVERY SYSTEM AND PAYMENT RATES FOR SERVICES

1) Indicate whether the delivery system used to provide benefits to Demonstration participants will differ from the Medicaid and/or CHIP State plan.

🛛 Yes

 $\Box$  No (if no, please skip questions 2 – 7 and the applicable payment rate questions)

2) Describe the delivery system reforms that will occur as a result of the Demonstration, and if applicable, how they will support the broader goals for improving quality and value in the health care system. Specifically, include information on the proposed Demonstration's expected impact on quality, access, cost of care and potential to improve the health status of the populations covered by the Demonstration. Also include information on which populations and geographic areas will be affected by the reforms.

Michigan has a robust brain injury provider network because of our unique auto no fault law. The BIW will allow Medicaid beneficiaries who have suffered a qualifying brain injury access to this delivery system. This is an important extension of Medicaid services because other than the auto no fault services, very few, if any, insurance, programs, or funding are available to assist with the cost of brain injury rehabilitation beyond the acute care phase. Because of the intensity and specialization required for providers to understand and treat brain injuries, the cost of these intensive services is prohibitive for those who qualify for Medicaid. This means that often once individuals are stable, they are sent home or to a nursing facility and do not receive the services needed to maximize their independence and restart their lives.

Providing Medicaid beneficiaries access to these services will result in a lower cost of services and supports throughout the individual's lifetime by allowing the participant to receive the services and supports needed to rebuild their life after their injury and learn the skills needed to regain their independence, including reentering the workforce. Additionally, the BIW includes services and supports needed to reinforce the skills learned during therapy to assist individuals with retention. Teaching and reinforcing the skills needed to maximize independence will improve not only the individual's health status, but also their quality of life. Assuring that BIW participants are linked to the LTSS needed after meeting their goals within the BIW will assist the individual with maintaining that quality of life long after enrollment in the BIW.

#### Michigan Brain Injury Waiver

# 3) Indicate the delivery system that will be used in the Demonstration by checking one or more of the following boxes:

□ Managed care

□ Managed Care Organization (MCO)

□ Prepaid Inpatient Health Plans (PIHP)

□ Prepaid Ambulatory Health Plans (PAHP)

☑ Fee-for-service (including Integrated Care Models)

□ Primary Care Case Management (PCCM)

□ Health Homes

□ Other (please describe)

4) If multiple delivery systems will be used, please include a table that depicts the delivery system that will be utilized in the Demonstration for each eligibility group that participates in the Demonstration (an example is provided). Please also include the appropriate authority if the Demonstration will use a delivery system (or is currently seeking one) that is currently authorized under the State plan, section 1915(a) option, section 1915(b) or section 1932 option.

N/A

5) If the Demonstration will utilize a managed care delivery system:

a) Indicate whether enrollment be voluntary or mandatory. If mandatory, is the state proposing to exempt and/or exclude populations?

N/A

b) Indicate whether managed care will be statewide, or will operate in specific areas of the state.

N/A

c) Indicate whether there will be a phased-in rollout of managed care (if managed care is not currently in operation or in specific geographic areas of the state).

N/A

d) Describe how the state will assure choice of MCOs, access to care and provider network adequacy.

N/A

e) Describe how the managed care providers will be selected/procured.

N/A

# 6) Indicate whether any services will not be included under the proposed delivery system and the rationale for the exclusion.

The proposed delivery system will only include the brain injury specific services and providers as indicated in Section III.6 and Attachments A and B. The BIW delivery system will consist specifically of providers focused on furnishing services to individuals with brain injuries. Because of Michigan's unique Auto No Fault provisions, there is currently a robust delivery system for brain injury specific services. The BIW will utilize the expertise of this well-developed delivery system to furnish BIW services. All BIW participants will be eligible to receive Medicaid State Plan services using established delivery systems, with the exception of those services listed in Section III.5. However, the established delivery systems for Medicaid State Plan services do not currently include providers who specialize in brain injury treatments and services, since the services they provide have not been within the scope of the Michigan Medicaid program.

The BIW will not offer self-determined services. The reason for not offering this option is that brain injuries often cause impulsive behavior, attentional deficits, aggressiveness, and vulnerability to the redirection of others. With these symptoms, participants often lack the ability to make sound decisions about hiring, firing, and training staff. Additionally, participants are often unable to determine the motives of others and this could leave them vulnerable to abuse, neglect, and exploitation by untrustworthy caregivers.

7) If the Demonstration will provide personal care and/or long term services and supports, please indicate whether self-direction opportunities are available under the Demonstration. If yes, please describe the opportunities that will be available, and also provide additional information with respect to the person-centered services in the Demonstration and any financial management services that will be provided under the Demonstration.

### □Yes ⊠No

8) If fee-for-service payment will be made for any services, specify any deviation from State plan provider payment rates. If the services are not otherwise covered under the State plan, please specify the rate methodology.

### See Attachment C.

9) If payment is being made through managed care entities on a capitated basis, specify the methodology for setting capitation rates, and any deviations from the payment and contracting requirements under 42 CFR Part 438.

### N/A

10) If quality-based supplemental payments are being made to any providers or class of providers, please describe the methodologies, including the quality markers that will be measured and the data that will be collected.

N/A

### SECTION V - IMPLEMENTATION OF DEMONSTRATION

1) Describe the implementation schedule. If implementation is a phase-in approach, please specify the phases, including starting and completion dates by major component/milestone.

Michigan's proposed schedule is to implement the BIW statewide beginning April 1, 2017.

# **2)** Describe how potential Demonstration participants will be notified/enrolled into the Demonstration.

Referrals to the BIW may be made by acute care setting case managers, nursing facility social workers, service providers, or family members of the potential BIW participant. Once a review of the required submitted documents has been completed, the Medicaid Agency decides if the potential BIW participant will be admitted or denied to the program. Documents required to be submitted include: Emergency room records, CT scan report of brain, neurological consultations and surgery reports related to the brain injury, therapy notes, therapist evaluations, social worker evaluation, a statement by a qualified health professional that indicates the individual has functional or cognitive limitations as a direct result of the brain injury, guardianship paperwork (if applicable). Other documents relative to an individual may also be requested as needed. If approval for admission has been granted, the referring agency, potential BIW participant and authorized representative will receive written notification and a copy of the BIW Participant Handbook (see Attachment A for more information). If the Medicaid Agency decides the participant is not a candidate for the BIW, the applicant will receive an Adequate Action Notice from the Medicaid Agency that contains the reason for the denial and information about the Medicaid Fair Hearings process, including how to file a hearing request.

Once approval for admission to the BIW has been granted, the participant and authorized representative are given the option of where the participant will receive services. If Transitional Residential service is chosen, the participant and authorized representative will choose an approved provider. If receiving home and community-based services or outpatient BI specific therapies, the participant and authorized representative will choose the providers from which to receive BI services. The case manager or Medicaid Agency will assist the individual and authorized representative with making this choice as needed. The provider the participant chooses to enroll with will work with the participant and authorized representative to develop a person-centered plan of care within a week after BIW admission. All services must be documented in the plan of care and must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency.

For individuals who participate in a HCBS program in conjunction with the BIW, a coordinated personcentered plan of care will be developed by the participant and authorized representative with the case manager and representatives from the BIW and other HCBS program to assure there is no duplication of services and to assure the individual receives the services and supports needed to meet the goals identified in the plan of care. Other HCBS programs include the Home Help program, the MI Choice waiver, and MI Health Link. 3) If applicable, describe how the state will contract with managed care organizations to provide Demonstration benefits, including whether the state needs to conduct a procurement.

N/A

### SECTION VI – DEMONSTRATION FINANCING AND BUDGET NEUTRALITY

Please complete the Demonstration financing and budget neutrality forms, respectively, and include with the narrative discussion. The Financing Form includes a set of standard financing questions typically raised in new section 1115 demonstrations; not all will be applicable to every demonstration application. The Budget and spreadsheet includes a set of questions with respect to historical expenditure data as well as projected Demonstration expenditures.

See Attachments D, E and F.

### SECTION VII – LIST OF PROPOSED WAIVERS AND EXPENDITURE AUTHORITIES

Title	Brief Description	Reference	Rational
Amount,	To enable the State to provide	Section	Allows Michigan to offer
Duration and	benefit packages to	1902(a)(10)(B)	unique services based on the
Scope of	Demonstration populations		waiver participants assessed
Services	that differ from the State plan		needs that will enable the
	benefit package		participants to maximize their
			independence and increase
			their quality of life after injury.
Comparability	To enable the State to provide	Section	Allows Michigan to target
	BIW services to specific	1902(a)(17)	individuals with qualifying
	Medicaid-eligible individuals		brain injuries for enrollment in
			the BIW.
Retroactive	To enable the State to waive	Section	Allows Michigan to offer
Eligibility	or modify the requirement to	1902(a)(34)	services to waiver participants
	provide medical assistance for		upon enrollment in the
	up to three months prior to		waiver.
	the month of application		
Reasonable	To enable the State to limit	Section	Michigan has identified a very
Promptness	enrollment	1902(a)(8)	limited budget of \$2,500,000
			for the BIW at this time.
			Controlling enrollment allows
			Michigan to better manage
			limited financial resources.

### 1) Provide a list of proposed waivers and expenditure authorities.

#### Michigan Brain Injury Waiver

2) Describe why the state is requesting the waiver or expenditure authority, and how it will be used.

See chart above.

### SECTION VIII – PUBLIC NOTICE

Please include the following elements as provided for in 42 CFR 431.408 when developing this section:

#### 1) Start and end dates of the state's public comment period.

The public comment period ran from July 26, 2016 to August 26, 2016

2) Certification that the state provided public notice of the application, along with a link to the state's web site and a notice in the state's Administrative Record or newspaper of widest circulation 30 days prior to submitting the application to CMS.

Please see Attachment G, Abbreviated Public Notice, Newspaper Posting for Brain Injury Waiver and Press Release for Brain Injury Waiver.

# 3) Certification that the state convened at least 2 public hearings, of which one hearing included teleconferencing and/or web capability, 20 days prior to submitting the application to CMS, including dates and a brief description of the hearings conducted.

Please see Attachment G, BIW Public Hearing Presentation for August 10, 2016 and BIW Public Hearing Presentation for August 17, 2016.

# 4) Certification that the state used an electronic mailing list or similar mechanism to notify the public. (If not an electronic mailing list, please describe the mechanism that was used.)

Please see Attachment G, Stakeholder Notice and Abbreviated Public Notice

### 5) Comments received by the state during the 30-day public notice period.

Please see Attachment G, Consultation Summary

# 6) Summary of the state's responses to submitted comments, and whether or how the state incorporated them into the final application.

Please see Attachment G, Consultation Summary

7) Certification that the state conducted tribal consultation in accordance with the consultation process outlined in the state's approved Medicaid State plan, or at least 60 days prior to submitting this Demonstration application if the Demonstration has or would have a direct effect on Indians, tribes, on Indian health programs, or on urban Indian health organizations, including dates and method of consultation.

Please see Attachment G, Tribal Notice

### SECTION IX – DEMONSTRATION ADMINISTRATION

Please provide the contact information for the state's point of contact for the Demonstration application.

Name and Title:Jacqueline Coleman, Waiver SpecialistTelephone Number:(517) 241-7172Email Address:Colemanj@michigan.gov

### Attachment A Long Term Services and Supports Form Michigan Brain Injury Waiver

### Attachment A: Long Term Services and Supports Form

Please complete this form if you indicated in Section III that the Demonstration will provide long term services and supports (LTSS).

# Indicate the Population(s) that the following long-term services and support description applies to:

Enter Populations Here:

Individuals aged 21 and over who have suffered a qualifying brain injury within 18 months of the date of admission to the Brain Injury Waiver and would benefit from program services.

### Administration of the Long Term Services and Supports Program

Will the LTSS component of the Demonstration be operated by one or more State agencies other than the Medicaid agency?

□Yes ⊠No

If yes, please provide the contact information of the key contacts at those agencies, including name, title, name of agency, address, telephone number, email address and fax number. Also describe the specific sub-population associated with the contact:

Do other State agencies, that are not part of the Single State Medicaid Agency, perform Demonstration operational and administrative functions on behalf of the Medicaid agency?

□Yes ⊠No

Do any contracted entities, including managed care organizations, perform Demonstration operational and administrative functions on behalf of the Medicaid agency or the waiver operating agency (if applicable)?

□Yes ⊠No

Do any local or regional non-state entities perform Demonstration operational and administrative functions?

□Yes ⊠No

If yes to any of the questions above, specify the types of State agencies, contracted entities and/or local/regional non-state entities and describe the specific functions that they perform. This includes individual enrollment, management of any enrollment or

expenditure limits, level of care evaluation, review of service plans, prior authorization of services, utilization management, provider enrollment and agreements, rate methodologies, rules, policies and procedures, and quality assurance and improvement activities. Please describe how the Single State Agency oversees the performance of these non-State entities:

### Consolidation of Existing Waivers or Authorities into the Demonstration

Are existing State waivers or programs operating under other authorities are being consolidated into the Demonstration Program?

□Yes ⊠No

If yes, identify the existing waiver(s) (1915(b),(c),(d),(e) or State Plan authorities (1915(a), (i), (j), (k), 1932) that are being consolidated into the 1115 Demonstration, including the names of the waivers or programs and identifying waiver numbers. Also indicate the current status of these waivers or authorities. Describe how individuals in these programs will be transitioned to the 1115 Demonstration program and assured a comparable level of services, quality and continuity of care.

### Level of Care to Qualify for the Program

This Demonstration is requested in order to provide LTSS to individuals who, but for the provision of such services, would require the following level(s) of care, the costs of which should be reimbursed under the approved Medicaid state plan:

Those that would otherwise be institutionalized in either a hospital or nursing facility. Hospital is defined in 42 CFR 440.10. Nursing facility is defined in 42 CFR 440.40 and 42 CFR 440.155.

Indicate and describe the level of care criteria for participants in the Long Term Services and Supports Demonstration program, such as hospital, nursing facility, ICF-MR, IMD-hospital, IMD-nursing facility, or needs-based criteria. Identify which entity performs the initial and subsequent level of care evaluations and the frequency of such reevaluations:

Hospital is defined in 42 CFR 440.10. Nursing facility is defined in 42 CFR 440.40 and 42 CFR 440.155. Initial evaluations will be completed by the State Medicaid Agency.

Reevaluations will be completed at least annually, or upon significant change in status by the State Medicaid Agency.

### Individual Cost Limits

Do individual cost limits apply when determining whether to deny LTSS or entrance to the Demonstration to an otherwise eligible individual?

□Yes ⊠No

*If yes, indicate the type of cost limit that applies and describe any additional requirements pertaining to the indicated limit:* 

- □ Cost Limit in Excess of Institutional Costs. The State refuses entrance to the Demonstration to any otherwise eligible individual when the State reasonably expects that the cost of the LTSS furnished to that individual would exceed the cost of a level of care specified for the Demonstration up to an amount specified by the State.
- □ Institutional Cost Limit. The State refuses entrance to the Demonstration to any otherwise eligible individual when the State reasonably expects that the cost of the LTSS furnished to that individual would exceed 100% of the cost of the level of care specified for the waiver.
- □ Cost Limit Lower Than Institutional Costs. The State refuses entrance to the Demonstration to any otherwise qualified individual when the State reasonably expects that the cost of LTSS furnished to that individual would exceed an amount specified by the State that is less than the cost of a level of care specified for the Demonstration. Specify the basis of the limit, including evidence that the limit is sufficient to assure the health and welfare of Demonstration individuals.

Long Term Services and Supports – Outreach, Education, Enrollment and Screening Describe the Demonstration program's approach to Outreach, Education, Enrollment and Screening, including any coordination with a Money Follows the Person program. Include a description of the roles of the State and other entities in the processes.

Outreach – The Medicaid Agency has informed potential providers of the BIW by including them in stakeholder meetings during the development of the waiver. The Medicaid Agency will continue to notify rehabilitation facilities, trauma centers, and other entities who may serve individuals with a brain injury through provider meetings, participation in conferences, the Medicaid Agency's website, and through the Brain Injury Association of Michigan.

Education – The Medicaid Agency will continue educating providers about the BIW as needed through attending provider forums, conferences, and other available avenues. The Medicaid Agency will provide contact information on its website for interested parties to receive additional information. The Medicaid Agency may also develop pamphlets and brochures to be distributed to the public.

Enrollment – Qualified providers will submit required information to the Medicaid Agency through a web-based application. The Medicaid Agency staff will determine eligibility for enrollment in the BIW.

Screening – When interest in the program exceeds capacity, individuals will be screened for potential eligibility and placed on a waiting list according to the priority classification.

### **Person-Centered Planning**

Indicate who is responsible for collaborating with the individual in developing the Demonstration's person-centered service plan and for its final development:

Case Manager
 □Social Worker

Other (please describe, include qualifications)

Family members, authorized representatives, legally responsible representatives, therapists, and others as requested by the individual.

### Supporting the Participant in Service Plan Development

Specify: (a) the supports and information that are made available to the individual (and/or family or legal representative, as appropriate) to direct and be actively engaged in the service plan development process and (b) the individual's authority to determine who is included in the process.

a) The Medicaid Agency or the referral agency provides the BIW Participant Handbook to all applicants during the enrollment process. The information packet explains the BIW services, the person-centered planning process, rights and appeals information, information on abuse, and other information relevant to brain injuries. The case managers solicit participant preferences for date, time, and place of the assessment meeting before finalizing schedules. The participant, legally responsible representatives, the participant's chosen allies, family, and authorized representatives are provided with written information about the right to participate in the personcentered planning process upon enrollment in BIW, during assessment, reassessment, or upon request. The case manager provides additional information and support and directly addresses issues and concerns the participant or the participant's legally responsible representative may have either over the phone or in a face-to-face meeting. The initial person-centered planning meeting occurs in person at a location preferred by the participant or participant's legally responsible representative and at a date and time chosen by the participant or the participant's legally responsible representative. Continued assistance from a case manager is available throughout the service planning process.

b) The participant or the participant's legally responsible representative has authority to determine who will be involved in the person-centered planning process and may choose allies, such as family members, friends, community advocates, service providers and independent advocates to participate. If preferred by the participant, or the participant's legally responsible representative, a pre-planning conference may occur before the person-centered planning meeting. In this pre-planning conference, the participant, participant's legally responsible representative and the case manager discuss who the participant wants to involve in the planning process, goals and dreams that will be addressed, topics that will be discussed at the meeting and topics that will not be addressed. The time and location for the planning meeting may also be determined at the pre-planning session. This session may occur in person or over the phone.

### **Service Plan Development Process**

Describe the process that is used to develop the person-centered service plan, including:

(a) who develops the plan, what individuals are expected to participate in the plan development process;

The care manager works with the participant, the participant's legally responsible representative and their chosen allies to develop the plan of service during a face to face meeting. The participant's authorized representative is also expected to participate in the plan development process.

(b) the timing of the plan, how and when it is updated, including mechanisms to address changing circumstances and needs (and expectations regarding

scheduling and location of meetings to accommodate individuals receiving services);

Within seven days of program approval, the participant, the participant's legally responsible representative, and chosen allies will develop the initial plan of service. If the participant is experiencing a crisis situation that requires immediate services at the time of enrollment and is not ready to fully participate in person-centered planning, an interim plan of service may be developed by the care manager and other medical staff and approved by the participant and the participant's legally responsible representative. Interim service plans are authorized for no more than 30 days without a follow-up visit to determine the participant's status and whether any changes need to be made to the plan.

The plan of service is based on the expressed needs and desires of the participant, or the participant's legally responsible representative, and is updated upon request of the participant or the participant's legally responsible representative. The participant, or the participant's legally responsible representative, will contact his or her case manager to make a change to the plan, schedule a person centered planning meeting to update the plan, or both. Regular updates also occur when the need for services or when participant circumstances change, but at least once every six months. Regular updates may be initiated by the participant, the participant's legally responsible representative, or case manager.

All meetings are scheduled and planned at locations, dates, and times chosen by the participant or the participant's legally responsible representative.

(c) the types of assessments that are conducted to support the service plan development process, including securing information about the individual's needs, preferences and goals, and health status;

The Mayo-Portland Adaptability Inventory (MPAI) is the basis for the BIW assessment. Upon enrollment in the BIW, care managers and other medical professionals perform a comprehensive evaluation and complete the MPAI including an assessment of the individual's unique preferences, physical, social and emotional functioning, medication, physical environment, natural supports, and financial status. The case manager and medical professionals must fully engage the participant in the interview to the extent of the participant's abilities and tolerance. Once the assessment is completed, the case manager uses the information obtained to educate the participant or the participant's legally responsible representative. The person-centered planning process is used to assure the plan addresses the identified issues found through the assessment process.

(d) how the individual is informed of the services that are available under the Demonstration;

The participant or the participant's legally responsible representative, is informed of services available by the case manager. This occurs through direct communication (either in person, electronically, or over the telephone) with the case manager as well as through written information provided to the participant regarding waiver services and other available community services and supports. The participant is offered information on all possible service providers. The participant or the participant's legally responsible representative specifies how he/she wishes to receive services and this is included in the service plan.

(e) how the plan development process ensures that the service plan addresses the individual's goals, needs (including health care needs), and preferences;

MDHHS has developed a person-centered planning practice guide. The document is available on the MDHHS website to assist case managers in ensuring that the plan of service clearly identifies the participant's needs, goals and preferences with the services specified to meet them. The case manager and participant base the service plan upon participant preferences and needs identified through the assessment and person-centered planning process. A written plan of service is developed with each participant and includes the individual's identified or expressed needs, goals, expected outcomes, and planned interventions, regardless of funding source. This document includes all services provided to or needed by the participant and is developed before BIW services are provided. Case managers arrange BIW services based upon participant choice, professional recommendations, and approval of the participant, participant's authorized representative, providers, and the Medicaid Agency. The participant and the case manager explore other funding options and intervention opportunities when personal goals include things beyond the scope of BIW services. The participant's legally responsible representative is involved in this process as required.

### (f) how Demonstration and other services are coordinated;

The plan of service clearly identifies the types of services needed from both paid and non-paid providers of services and supports. The amount (units), frequency, and duration of each waiver service to be provided are included in the plan. The participant, or participant's legally responsible representative, chooses the services that best meet their needs and rely on the case manager to ensure the services are implemented and provided according to the plan of service. The case manager ensures that services and supports are implemented as planned. Case managers oversee the coordination of State Plan and BIW services included in the service plans. This oversight ensures that BIW services in the service plans are not duplicative of similar State Plan services available to or received by the participant.

Participants enrolled in both the BIW and MI Choice waiver have the service plan coordinated by their MI Choice supports coordinator. The supports coordinator assures that MI Choice and BIW services are not duplicative and that the participant receives the BIW and MI Choice services included in the plan of service. The supports coordinator attends BIW case management meetings to assure the plan of service is updated as necessary and to assure a smooth transition out of the BIW when appropriate.

(g) how the plan development process provides for the assignment of responsibilities to implement and monitor the plan;

The assignment of responsibilities to implement the plan are determined through person-centered planning process and may be delegated to the participant, the participant's legally responsible representative, a case manager, or others designated by the participant. The case manager and the participant or participant's authorized representative are responsible for monitoring the plan. This occurs through periodic case reviews, monthly contacts, participant request, reassessments, and routine formal service provider monitoring of expenditures made on behalf of the participant.

(h) Indicate how and when the plan is updated, in addition to when the individual's needs change;

Case managers are required to contact participants at least monthly. This monthly contact may be by telephone or in person. Reassessments are conducted in person every 90 days after the initial assessment or upon a significant change in the participant's condition. Case managers conduct an in person reassessment of the participant for the purpose of identifying changes that may have occurred since the initial assessment or previous reassessment and to measure progress toward meeting specific goals outlined in the participant plan of service. The plan of service is also reviewed and updated during this process, based upon reassessment findings and participant preferences. The plan of service is also updated after changes in status and upon participant request.

(i) indicate the frequency with which the service plan is reviewed and the service delivery oversight process; and

The service plan is reviewed at least every 90 days, or sooner if indicated. Service delivery is overseen by the case manager and the Medicaid Agency. The Medicaid Agency prior authorizes all BIW services on the plan of service. The Medicaid Agency will periodically compare Medicaid claims with the prior authorized services to assure services are delivered as planned. The Medicaid Agency will also receive updates from the case manager and other medical professionals involved in the delivery of services to the participant to assure services are being delivered as planned, and meeting the participant's needs. MSA Staff may also attend case conferences as needed and when appropriate.

(j) Indicate whether the Demonstration allows for self-direction by budget, hire/fire authority or both.

The demonstration does not allow for self-direction.

### **Criminal History and/or Background Investigations**

Specify the State's policies concerning the conduct of criminal history and/or background investigations of individuals who provide Demonstration services:

Are criminal history and/or background investigations required?

⊠Yes □No

If yes, indicate the types of positions for which such investigations must be conducted:

Administrative Staff
 □ Staff, providers and others who have direct contact with the individual
 □ Others (please describe)

Indicate the scope of such investigations:

□ National (FBI) criminal records check
 □ State criminal records check only
 □ Other (please describe)

### Abuse Registry Screening

Does the State maintain an abuse registry and requires the screening of individuals through this registry?

□Yes ⊠No

If yes, specify the entity (entities) responsible for maintaining the abuse registry:

Indicate the types of positions for which abuse registry screenings must be conducted:

Administrative Staff
 Transport Staff
 Staff, providers and others who have direct contact with the individual
 Others (please describe)

### Allowable Settings

Are Demonstration services provided in facilities subject to §1616(e) of the Act?

⊠Yes □No

If yes, indicate the types of facilities where Demonstration services may be provided, any capacity limits for such facilities, the home and community based services that may be provided in such facilities, and how a home and community character is maintained in these settings. Demonstration services will be allowed in Adult Foster Care Homes and Homes for the Aged. The State of Michigan licenses five types of Adult Foster Care (AFC) homes that may be used by BIW participants. Capacity limit for Family Homes are 1 - 6; Small Group Homes are 1-12; Medium Group Homes are 7-12; Large Group Homes are 13-20; and Congregate Homes are larger than 21 residents. Michigan is phasing out the licensing of Congregate Homes, but existing homes continue to operate.

Homes For The Aged (HFA)are supervised personal care facilities (other than a hotel, adult foster care facility, hospital, nursing facility, or county medical care facility) that provide room, board, and supervised personal care to unrelated, non-transient individuals 60 years of age or older. Each HFA is licensed for a specific number and cannot exceed that capacity. If an HFA is connected to a nursing facility, it can only be licensed for 20 or fewer individuals. If it is not connected to a nursing facility, an HFA can be licensed for 21 or more individuals.

All facilities will be evaluated and deemed compliant with the Home and Community Based settings ruling using one of Michigan's Home and Community Base Settings evaluation instruments before BIW services are provided in such settings.

Individuals receiving Transitional Residential (TR) Rehabilitation services often reside in a provider-owned AFC home while receiving those services. This residency would be temporary and only in place as long as the individual required the TR rehabilitation services as supported in the person-centered plan of service and chosen by the participant or participant's authorized representative. TR rehabilitation services are limited to no more than six months. Discharge planning begins upon the start of TR rehabilitation services so that appropriate community based residency is found upon meeting the goals of the TR rehabilitation services. All deviations from the home and community based settings ruling required by the nature of the brain injury to assure the health and welfare of the individual will be included in the person-centered plan of care and will comply with the rule.

### **Individual Rights**

In addition to fair hearings, does the State operate other systems for dispute resolution, grievances or complaints concerning the operation of the Demonstration program's home and community-based services component?

⊠Yes □No

### **Quality Improvement Strategies**

Provide a description of the quality improvement strategies to be employed in the operation of the Demonstration. In particular describe strategies to ensure the health and welfare of individuals to be served with Home and Community-Based Services, including the prevention of abuse, neglect and exploitation (e.g., critical incident management system, utilization review, case management visits, etc.), the single State

Medicaid Agency oversight and involvement. Please also include the self-direction strategy if the Demonstration allows for self-direction.

The Medicaid Agency will use an electronic Critical Incident Management System for BIW participants. Critical incidents the Medicaid Agency requires to be reported for review and follow-up action are:

Exploitation - An action by an employee, volunteer, or agent of a provider that involves the misappropriation or misuse of a recipient's property or funds for the benefit of an individual or individuals other than the recipient.

Illegal activity in the home with potential to cause a serious or major negative event – Any illegal activity in the home that puts the participant or the workers coming into the home at risk.

Neglect - Acts of commission or omission by an employee, volunteer, or agent of a provider that result from noncompliance with a standard of care or treatment required by law or rules, policies, guidelines, written directives, procedures, or individual plans of service that cause or contribute to non-serious physical harm or emotional harm, death, or sexual abuse of, serious physical harm to a recipient, or the intentional, knowing or reckless acts of omission or deprivation of essential needs (including medication management).

Physical abuse - The use of unreasonable force on a participant with or without apparent harm. Includes unreasonable confinement (physical or chemical restraints, seclusion, and restrictive interventions).

Provider no shows - Instances when a provider is scheduled to be at the participant's home but does not come and back-up service plan is either not put into effect or fails to get an individual to the participant home in a timely manner. This becomes a critical incident when the participant is bed bound or in critical need and is dependent on others.

Sexual abuse - (i) Criminal sexual conduct as defined by sections 520b to 520e of 1931 PA 318, MCL 750.520b to MCL 750.520e involving an employee, volunteer, or agent of a provider and a recipient.

(ii) Any sexual contact or sexual penetration involving an employee, volunteer, or agent of a department operated hospital or center, a facility licensed by the department under section 137 of the act or an adult foster care facility and a recipient.

(iii) Any sexual contact or sexual penetration involving an employee, volunteer, or agent of a provider and a recipient for whom the employee, volunteer, or agent provides direct services.

"Sexual contact" means the intentional touching of the recipient's or employee's intimate parts or the touching of the clothing covering the immediate area of the recipient's or employee's intimate parts, if that intentional touching can reasonably be construed as being for the purpose of sexual arousal or ratification, done for a sexual purpose, or in a sexual manner for any of the following:

- (i) Revenge.
- (ii) To inflict humiliation.

(iii) Out of anger.

"Sexual penetration" means sexual intercourse, cunnilingus, fellatio, anal intercourse, or any other intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person's body or of any object into the genital or anal openings of another person's body, but emission of semen is not required.

Theft - A person intentionally and fraudulently takes personal property of another without permission or consent and with the intent to convert it to the taker's use (including potential sale).

Verbal abuse - Intimidation or cruel punishment that causes or is likely to cause mental anguish or emotional harm.

Worker consuming drugs or alcohol on the job – Use of any drugs or alcohol that would affect the abilities of the worker to do his or her job.

Suspicious or Unexpected Death - That which does not occur as a natural outcome to a chronic condition (e.g., terminal illness) or old age. These incidents are often also reported to law enforcement.

Medication errors - Wrong medication, wrong dosage, double dosage, or missed dosage which resulted in death or loss of limb or function or the risk thereof.

Providers and case managers have first line responsibility for identifying, investigating, evaluating and follow-up of critical incidents that occur with participants as listed above. Providers and case managers take appropriate action upon suspicion or determination of abuse, neglect and exploitation. Appropriate action includes, but is not limited to reporting suspected abuse, neglect, or exploitation to Adult Protective Services and local authorities. Michigan Public Act 519 of 1982 (as amended) mandates that all human service providers and health care professionals make referrals to the Department of Health and Human Services Adult Protective Services (DHHS-APS) unit when the professional suspects or believes an adult is being abused, neglected, or exploited. The Vulnerable Adult Abuse Act (P.A. 149 of 1994) creates a criminal charge of adult abuse for vulnerable adults harmed by a caregiver. Providers and case managers must also report suspected financial abuse per the Financial Abuse Act (MI S.B. 378 of 1999). Providers and case managers must follow up activities with DHHS-APS to determine the result of the reported incident and next steps to be taken if the results are unsatisfactory. All reports of the suspected abuse, neglect or exploitation, as well as the referral to DHHS-APS, must be maintained in the participant's case record. Timeframes are as follows:

Providers and case managers should begin to investigate and evaluate critical incidents with the participant within two business days of identification that an incident occurred. Suspicious or unexpected death that is also reported to law enforcement agencies must be reported to the Medicaid Agency within two business days.

Providers and case managers are responsible for tracking and responding to individual critical incidents using the Critical Incident Reporting web-based system. Providers and case managers are required to report the type of critical incidents, the responses to those incidents, and the outcome and resolution of each event within 30 days of the date of the incident. The online system allows the Medicaid Agency to review the reports in real time and ask questions or address concerns with the providers and case managers.

The Medicaid Agency will use MAPI data to measure improvement in functional ability of program participants. The MAPI will be administered upon admission and at least every 90 days thereafter. Differences in functional ability between the current and previous MAPI will be analyzed and reported for participants. Individual results will be summarized in any program reports to protect health information. MAPI data will also be used to measure participant independence and community participation upon admission and at least every 90 days thereafter.

The Medicaid Agency will evaluate progress made toward goals specified on the plan of care to determine whether participants met or exceeded their goals after one year of enrollment or upon completion of the program.

The Medicaid Agency will measure annual Medicaid costs for BIW participants and compare these expenditures to the cost of beneficiaries receiving institutional care.

The Medicaid Agency will contract with the University of Michigan to conduct quality of life surveys for BIW participants and provide an analysis of the results. The quality of life surveys will be conducted upon enrollment, and every six months thereafter.

# Michigan's Brain Injury Waiver Attachment B: LTSS Benefit Specifications and Provider Qualifications

For each benefit or service that the State proposes to provide differently from that described in the State Plan, the State must complete this form by providing a description of the amount, duration and scope of the service under the Demonstration as well as the provider specifications and qualifications for the benefit or service.

### Brain Injury Day Treatment Program

Name of Benefit or Service:

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

Services that are necessary for the treatment of the individual's brain injury. The purpose of this service is to maintain the individual's condition and functional level and to prevent relapse or hospitalization and to reinforce other therapeutic services received. These services consist of the following elements:

- a. individual and group therapy with medical professionals;
- b. occupational therapy, requiring the skills of a qualified occupational therapist;
- c. services of social workers, trained psychiatric nurses, and other staff trained to work with individuals with brain injuries;
- d. individual and group activity therapies that are goal oriented, and
- e. training and education of the individual (to the extent that training and educational activities are closely and clearly related to the individual's care and treatment);

Meals provided as part of these services shall not constitute a "full nutritional regimen" (3 meals per day). Brain Injury Day Treatment Program services shall not be provided on the same day as other brain injury rehabilitation services.

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

Benefit Amount



per  $\boxtimes$  Day  $\square$  Week  $\square$  Month  $\square$  Year

 $\boxtimes$  Other, describe:

Brain injury day treatment services are not provided on the same day as brain injury rehabilitation services. Individuals cannot receive Brain Injury day treatment services while receiving transitional residential rehabilitation services. Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

5	Day(s)	No more than five days per week (i.e. in a 7 day period).
	Week(s)	
24	Month(s)	BI Day Treatment services are limited to no more than 24 months.
	(Other)	

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

Services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included in the participant's plan of care.

**Provider Specifications and Qualifications** 

Provider Category(s):

Adult Day Treatment center with Brain Injury specialization

□Individual (list types) □Agency (list types of agencies)

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

Providers must be an adult day treatment center that specializes in treating individuals with brain injuries. The day treatment center must coordinate services with the individual's therapists to assure proper services and treatment while at the program.

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Agency	No	Yes	Certified Brain Injury Specialist

Name of Benefit or Service: Communi

**Community Transition Services** 

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

Community Transitions Services are non-recurring set-up expenses for individuals who are transitioning from an institutional or another provider-operated living arrangement to a living arrangement in a private residence where the person is directly responsible for his or her own living expenses. Allowable expenses are those necessary to enable a person to establish a basic household that do not constitute room and board and may include: (a) security deposits that are required to obtain a lease on an apartment or home; (b) essential household furnishings and moving expense required to occupy and use a community domicile, including furniture, window coverings, food preparation items, and bed/bath linens; (c) set-up fees or deposits for utility or service access, including telephone, electricity, heating and water; (d) services necessary for the individual's health and safety such as pest eradication and one-time cleaning prior to occupancy; and, (e) activities to assess need, arrange for, and procure needed resources. Community Transition Services are furnished only to the extent that they are reasonable and necessary as determined through the plan of service development process, clearly identified in the plan of service and the person is unable to meet such expense or when the services cannot be obtained from other sources. Community Transition Services do not include monthly rental or mortgage expense; food, regular utility charges; and/or household appliances or items that are intended for purely diversional/recreational purposes.

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

**Benefit Amount** 

per 🗆 Day 🗆 Week 🗆 Month 🗆 Year

⊠ Other, describe:

Where applicable, the participant must use Medicaid state plan, Medicare, or other available payers first. Community Transition Services do not include monthly rental or mortgage expense, regular utility charges, or items that are intended for purely diversional and recreational purposes. Community Transition Services may only be used once per BIW enrollment period. Community Transition Services provided to individuals in transitional residential rehabilitation are not considered completed until the individual is discharged from that setting.

Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

	Day(s)	
	Week(s)	
	Month(s)	
X	(Other)	Once per BIW enrollment. Individuals who are concurrently enrolled in the MI Choice Waiver and the BIW or MI Health Link and BIW are not eligible for Community Transition
		Services through the BIW.

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

All services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included on the individual's plan of care.

Provider Specifications and Qualifications

Provider Category(s):

Agencies		

$\square$	□Individual	(list types)	⊠Agency (list types of agencies)
---	-------------	--------------	----------------------------------

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

Centers for Independent Living, retail stores

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Center for Independent Living	No	No	
Retail Stores	No	No	

Name of Benefit or Service:

Specialized Medical Equipment, Supplies, and Assistive Devices

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

Specialized medical equipment, supplies, and assistive devices include: (a) devices, controls, or appliances, specified in the plan of care, that enable participants to increase their ability to perform activities of daily living; (b) devices, controls, or appliances that enable the participant to perceive, control, or communicate with the environment in which they live; (c) items necessary for life support or to address physical conditions along with ancillary supplies and equipment necessary to the proper functioning of such items; (d) such other durable and non-durable medical equipment not available under the State plan that is necessary to address participant functional limitations; and (e) necessary medical supplies not available under the State plan. Items reimbursed with waiver funds are in addition to any medical equipment and supplies furnished under the State plan and exclude those items that are not of direct medical or remedial benefit to the participant. All items shall meet applicable standards of manufacture, design and installation. This service includes training the participant or caregivers in the operation and maintenance of the equipment or device and the use of the supply.

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

**Benefit Amount** 

per  $\Box$  Day  $\Box$  Week  $\Box$  Month  $\Box$  Year

 $\boxtimes$  Other, describe:

Where applicable, the participant must use Medicaid state plan, Medicare, or other available payers first. Individuals who are concurrently enrolled in the MI Choice Waiver and the BIW or MI Health Link and the BIW are not eligible for specialized medical equipment, supplies and assistive devices through the BIW.

Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

Day(s)	
Week(s)	
Month(s)	
(Other)	

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

All services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included on the individual's plan of care. Specialized medical equipment, supplies and assistive devices may be obtained for individuals receiving BI Transitional Residential Rehabilitation Services.

Provider Specifications and Qualifications

Provider Category(s):

Agency

□Individual (list types) □Agency (list types of agencies)

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

Enrolled Medicaid or Medicare DME providers, Retail Stores

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Enrolled Medicaid or Medicare DME Provider	No	No	Each direct service provider must enroll in Medicare or Medicaid as a Durable Medical Equipment provider, pharmacy, etc., as appropriate.
Retail Stores	No	No	

Name of Benefit or Service:

Environmental Accessibility Adaptations

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

Those physical adaptations to the private residence of the participant or the participant's family, required by the participant's plan of service, that are necessary to ensure the health, welfare and safety of the participant or that enable the participant to function with greater independence in the home. Such adaptations include the installation of ramps and grab-bars, widening of doorways, modification of bathroom facilities, or the installation of specialized electric and plumbing systems that are necessary to accommodate the medical equipment and supplies that are necessary for the welfare of the participant.

Excluded are those adaptations or improvements to the home that are of general utility, and are not of direct medical or remedial benefit to the participant. Adaptations that add to the total square footage of the home are excluded from this benefit except when necessary to complete an adaptation (e.g., in order to improve entrance/egress to a residence or to configure a bathroom to accommodate a wheelchair).

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

**Benefit Amount** 

 ]	p
	P

er 🗆 Day 🗆 Week 🗆 Month 🗆 Year

 $\boxtimes$  Other, describe:

Individuals who are concurrently enrolled in the MI Choice Waiver and the BIW or MI Health Link and the BIW are not eligible for environmental accessibility adaptations through the BIW.

Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

Day(s)	
Week(s)	
Month(s)	
(Other)	

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

All services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included on the individual's plan of service. Environmental accessibility adaptations needed for individuals receiving BI Transitional Residential Rehabilitation Services will not be considered completed until the individual returns to their home.

**Provider Specifications and Qualifications** 

Provider Category(s):

⊠Individual (list types) ⊠Agency (list types of agencies)

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

Retail stores, contracted providers

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Retail Store	No	No	
Licensed Contractor (business)	Yes	No	
Licensed Contractor (individual)	Yes	No	

Name of Benefit or Service:	Counseling
-----------------------------	------------

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

Counseling services seek to improve the participant's emotional and social well-being through the resolution of personal problems or through changes in a participant's social situation. Counseling services must be directed to participants who are experiencing emotional distress or a diminished ability to function. Family members, including children, spouses or other responsible relatives, may participate in the counseling session to address and resolve the problems experienced by the participant and to prevent future issues from arising. Counseling services are typically provided on a short-term basis to address issues such as adjusting to a disability, adjusting to community living, and maintaining or building family support for community living. Counseling services are not intended to address long-term behavioral health needs.

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

Benefit Amount

8 units

per  $\Box$  Day  $\boxtimes$  Week  $\Box$  Month  $\Box$  Year

 $\boxtimes$  Other, describe:

Individuals who qualify for counseling through the State plan, the MI Choice waiver, or through the local Community Mental Health programs are not eligible to receive Counseling services through the BIW. Counseling is included in the per diem rate for individuals receiving transitional residential rehabilitation services and shall not be authorized as a separate service.

Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

	Day(s)	
	Week(s)	
24	Month(s)	BI Counseling services are limited to no more than 24 months.
	(Other)	

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

All services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included on the individual's plan of services.

**Provider Specifications and Qualifications** 

Provider Category(s):

⊠Individual (list types) ⊠Agency (list types of agencies)

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

- a. A master's degree in social work, psychology, psychiatric nursing, or counseling, or
- b. A bachelor's degree in one of the above areas and be under the supervision of a mental health professional with a master's degree.
- c. Specializes in individuals with brain injuries.

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Counselor	Yes		Brain injuries
Psychologist	Yes		Brain injuries
Social Worker	Yes		Brain injuries
Registered Nurse	Yes		Brain injuries
Board Certified Behavior Analyst	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries

Name of Benefit or Service:

Prevocational Services

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

Services that provide learning and work experiences, including volunteer work, where the individual can develop general, non-job-task-specific strengths and skills that contribute to employability in paid employment in integrated community settings. Services occur over a defined period of time and with specific outcomes to be achieved, as determined by the individual and his/her service and supports planning team through an ongoing person-centered planning process, to be reviewed not less than annually or more frequently as requested by the individual. Individuals receiving prevocational services must have employment-related goals in their person-centered service plan; the general habilitation activities must be designed to support such employment goals. Competitive, integrated employment in the community for which an individual is compensated at or above the minimum wage, but not less than the customary wage and level of benefits paid by the employer for the same or similar work performed by individuals without disabilities is considered to be the successful outcome of prevocational services.

Prevocational services enable each individual to attain the highest level of work in the most integrated setting and with the job matched to the individual's interests, strengths, priorities, abilities, and capabilities, while following applicable federal wage guidelines. Services are intended to develop and teach general skills that lead to competitive and integrated employment including, but not limited to: ability to communicate effectively with supervisors, co-workers and customers; generally accepted community workplace conduct and dress; ability to follow directions; ability to attend to tasks; workplace problem solving skills and strategies; general workplace safety and mobility training.

Participation in prevocational services is not a required pre-requisite for individual supported employment services provided under the waiver.

Documentation is maintained in the file of each individual receiving this service that the service is not available under a program funded under section 110 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 or the IDEA (20 U.S.C. 1401 et seq.).

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

Benefit Amount

5 hours

per 🗵 Day 🗌 Week 🗆 Month 🗆 Year

### $\boxtimes$ Other, describe:

Individuals who qualify for prevocational services through Michigan Rehabilitation Services or through the local Community Mental Health program are not eligible to receive prevocational services through the BIW. Pre-Vocational services are included in the per diem rate for individuals receiving transitional residential rehabilitation services and shall not be authorized as a separate service.

Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

	Day(s)	
	Week(s)	
24	Month(s)	BI Prevocational services are limited to no more than 24 months.
	(Other)	

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

All services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included on the individual's plan of care.

### **Provider Specifications and Qualifications**

Provider Category(s):

Brain Injury Specialists

⊠Individual (list types) ⊠Agency (list types of agencies)

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

Providers must be accredited or certified by CARF, CORF, or AAAASF with specialization for treating brain injuries. In areas of the state where there is limited or no access to CARF, CORF, or AAAASF providers with additional accreditation or certification in Brain Injury, the Medicaid Agency may allow individual providers who are Certified Brain Injury Specialists and work in a health care program with additional licensing or accreditation to become brain injury providers.

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Occupational Therapist	Yes		Brain injuries
Vocational Therapists	Yes		Brain injuries
Vocational Aide		Yes	Brain Injuries. The aide must be working under the direct supervision of an occupational or vocational therapist.

Name of Benefit or Service: Supported Employment

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

Supported Employment Services include the ongoing supports to participants who, because of their disabilities, need intensive ongoing support to obtain and maintain an individual job in competitive or customized employment, or self-employment, in an integrated work setting in the general workforce at or above the state's minimum wage, at or above the customary wage and level of benefits paid by the employer for the same or similar work performed by individuals without disabilities. The outcome of this service is sustained paid employment at or above the minimum wage in an integrated setting in the general workforce, in a job that meets personal and career goals.

Supported employment services will be provided through customized employment for individuals with significant disabilities related to their brain injury that promote community inclusion and integrated employment.

Supported employment individual employment supports may also include support to establish or maintain self-employment, including home-based self-employment. Supported employment services are individualized and may include any combination of the following services: vocational/job-related discovery or assessment, person-centered employment planning, job placement, job development, negotiation with prospective employers, job analysis, job carving, training and systematic instruction, job coaching, and benefits and work-incentives planning and management. This service also includes workplace support services including services not specifically related to job skill training that enable the waiver participant to be successful in integrating into the job setting.

Documentation is maintained in the file of each individual receiving this service that the service is not available under a program funded under section 110 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 or the IDEA (20 U.S.C. 1401 et seq.). Federal financial participation is not claimed for incentive payments, subsidies, or unrelated vocational training expenses such as the following:

1. Incentive payments made to an employer to encourage or subsidize the employer's participation in supported employment; or

2. Payments that are passed through to users of supported employment services.

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

Benefit Amo	unt
-------------	-----

5 hours

per  $\boxtimes$  Day  $\square$  Week  $\square$  Month  $\square$  Year

 $\boxtimes$  Other, describe:

Individuals who qualify for supported employment services through Michigan Rehabilitation Services or through the local Community Mental Health program are not eligible to receive supported employment services through the BIW.

Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

	Day(s)	
	Week(s)	
24	Month(s)	BI Supported Employment services are limited to no more than 24 months.
	(Other)	

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

All services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included on the individual's plan of care.

Provider Specifications and Qualifications

Provider	Category	(s)	):
inoviaci	cutegory	5	•

Brain Injury Specialists
--------------------------

⊠Individual (list types) ⊠Agency (list types of agencies)

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

Providers must be accredited or certified by CARF, CORF, or AAAASF with specialization for treating brain injuries. In areas of the state where there is limited or no access to CARF, CORF, or AAAASF providers with additional accreditation or certification in Brain Injury, the Medicaid Agency may allow individual providers who are Certified Brain Injury Specialists and work in a health care program with additional licensing or accreditation to become brain injury providers.

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Occupational Therapist	Yes		Brain injuries
Vocational Therapist	Yes		Brain injuries
Job Coach	No		Brain Injuries. The aide must be working under the direct supervision of an occupational or vocational therapist.

Name of Benefit or Service: T

Targeted BIW Case Management

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

Services that assist participants in gaining access to needed BIW and medical, social, educational and other services and supports needed as a result of the participant's brain injury, regardless of the funding source for the services to which access is gained. The BIW case manager specializes in gaining access to services related to the participant's brain injury and may need to coordinate with other case managers or supports coordinators to secure services and supports needed that are not brain injury specific and to assure services are not duplicated. Additionally, the BIW case manager will need to assure the services received concurrently through other programs reinforce and supplement BIW therapies received.

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

**Benefit Amount** 

1 unit

per  $\Box$  Day  $\Box$  Week  $\boxtimes$  Month  $\Box$  Year

□ Other, describe:

Targeted BIW Case Management services are included in the per diem rate for individuals receiving transitional residential rehabilitation services and shall not be authorized as a separate service.

Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

	Day(s)	
	Week(s)	
24	Month(s)	Targeted BIW case management services are limited to no more than 24 months.
	(Other)	

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

Case management services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included on the individual's plan of care. Individuals concurrently enrolled in the MI Choice waiver and BIW or MI Health Link and BIW must develop a coordinated plan of services to assure services through those programs do not duplicate BIW services and to assure BIW participants receive the services and supports needed to reinforce and supplement BIW therapies received.

Provider Specifications and Qualifications

Provider Category(s):

Brain Injury Specialists

☑Individual (list types)	☑Agency (list types of agencies)

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

Providers must be accredited or certified by CARF, CORF, or AAAASF with specialization for treating brain injuries. In areas of the state where there is limited or no access to CARF, CORF, or AAAASF providers with additional accreditation or certification in Brain Injury, the Medicaid Agency may allow individual providers who are Certified Brain Injury Specialists and work in a health care program with additional licensing or accreditation to become brain injury providers.

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Registered Nurse	Yes	Yes	Brain Injuries
Social Worker	Yes	Yes	Brain Injuries
Certified Case Manager	Yes	Yes	Brain Injuries
Licensed Counselor	Yes	Yes	Brain Injuries

Name of Benefit or Service: B

Brain Injury Home and Community-Based Rehabilitation Services

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

This service encompasses the entire scope of therapies available to treat individuals with brain injuries in home and community-based settings through the Brain Injury Waiver. Health professionals delivering this service have received advanced training on how to provide therapy to individuals with brain injuries and the health care professional furnishing the service has modified the therapy to be more effective for these individuals. The provider will maintain records that support the actual therapies received by each participant. This service comprises the following therapies:

- a. BI-Specific Physical Therapy
- b. BI-Specific Occupational Therapy (includes pre-driving services)
- c. BI-Specific Speech Language Pathology Therapy
- d. BI-Specific Recreational, Music, Fitness, or other Therapy

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

**Benefit Amount** 

5 hours

per  $\boxtimes$  Day  $\square$  Week  $\square$  Month  $\square$  Year

□ Other, describe:

BI HCB Rehabilitation services are included in the per diem rate for individuals receiving transitional residential rehabilitation services and shall not be authorized as a separate service.

Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

	Day(s)	
	Week(s)	
24	Month(s)	BI HCBS Rehabilitation services are limited to no more than 24 months.
	(Other)	

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

All services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included on the individual's plan of care. Individuals receiving this service must start discharge planning as soon as possible.

**Provider Specifications and Qualifications** 

Provider Category(s):

Brain Injury Specialists

⊠Individual (list types) ⊠Agency (list types of agencies)

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

Providers must be accredited or certified by CARF, CORF, or AAAASF with specialization for treating brain injuries. In areas of the state where there is limited or no access to CARF, CORF, or AAAASF providers with additional accreditation or certification in Brain Injury, the Medicaid Agency may allow individual providers who are Certified Brain Injury Specialists and work in a health care program with additional licensing or accreditation to become brain injury providers.

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Physical Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain Injuries
Occupational Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Speech Language Pathology Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Recreational Therapist	No	Yes	Brain injuries
Neurobehavioral Rehabilitation Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Dietician/Nutritional therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Respiratory Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Registered Nurse	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Social Worker	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Certified Fitness Trainer	No	Yes	Brain injuries
Athletic Trainer	Yes	No	Brain injuries

Scope of Benefit/Service, including what is provided, what providers can provide the service, to whom it may be provided, how comprehensive the service is, and any other limitations on the benefit's scope:

This service encompasses the entire scope of therapies, services, and treatments available to treat individuals with brain injuries in an in-patient setting through the Brain Injury Waiver. Health professionals delivering this service have received advanced training on how to provide therapy to individuals with brain injuries and the health care professional furnishing the service has modified the therapy to be more effective for these individuals. The provider will maintain records that support the actual therapies received by each participant. This service is limited to six months. This service comprises the following therapies:

- e. BI-Specific Physical Therapy
- f. BI-Specific Occupational Therapy (includes pre-driving services)
- g. BI-Specific Speech Language Pathology Therapy
- h. BI-Specific Recreational, Music, Fitness or other Therapy
- i. BI-Specific Neurobehavioral Rehabilitation Therapy
- j. BI-Specific Dietician/Nutrition Therapy
- k. BI-Specific Respiratory Therapy
- I. BI-Specific Counseling
- m. Targeted BIW Case Management
- n. Pre-Vocational Services
- o. BI Day Treatment Program

This service will have three levels depending upon the needs of the individual.

- Complex/high tech level of care includes individuals who have a Rancho-Los Amigos score of V-VI, are medically stable, impulsive, display inappropriate behaviors, easily frustrated, have attentional deficits, require redirection, and have inappropriate verbalizations.
- 2. Intermediate level of care includes individuals who have a Rancho-Los Amigos score of V-VIII, are medically stable, display mild to severe aggression, are impulsive, easily frustrated, inappropriate verbalization that require structure, cues, and redirection, impulsive verbalization, minimal confusion.
- Minimal level of care includes individuals who have a Rancho-Los Amigos score of VI-VIII, are medically stable may have mild aggression that is easily redirected, behavior also is redirected easily, need assistance with basic care and daily living activities.

Amount of Benefit/Service – Describe any limitations on the amount of service provided under the Demonstration:

Benefit Amount

5 hours

per 🗵 Day 🗆 Week 🗆 Month 🗆 Year

□ Other, describe:

BI Transitional Residential Rehabilitation services are limited to no more than six months duration. Individuals receiving BI Transitional Residential Rehabilitation services cannot have the following services authorized separately: BI HCB Rehabilitation, BI Day Treatment, Counseling, Targeted BIW Case Management or Prevocational services.

Duration of Benefit/Service: Describe any limitations on the duration of the service under the demonstration:

	Day(s)	
	Week(s)	
6	Month(s)	Transition Residential Rehabilitation is limited to no more than six months.
	(Other)	

Authorization Requirements: Describe any prior, concurrent or post-authorization requirements, if any:

All services must be prior authorized by the Medicaid Agency and included on the individual's plan of care. Individuals receiving this service must start discharge planning as soon as possible.

**Provider Specifications and Qualifications** 

Drouidar	Category	10	۱.
FIUVIUEI	Calegoiy	(2)	

<b>Brain Injury Sp</b>	ecialists
------------------------	-----------

□Individual (list types) □Agency (list types of agencies)

The service may be provided by a:

□Legally Responsible Person □ Relative/Legal Guardian

Description of allowable providers:

Providers must be accredited or certified by CARF, CORF, or AAAASF with specialization for treating brain injuries. In areas of the state where there is limited or no access to CARF, CORF, or AAAASF providers with additional accreditation or certification in Brain Injury, the Medicaid Agency may allow individual providers who are Certified Brain Injury Specialists and work in a health care program with additional licensing or accreditation to become brain injury providers.

Provider Type	License Required (Yes/No)	Certificate Required (Yes/No)	Other Qualifications Required for this Provider Type (please describe)
Physical Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain Injuries
Occupational Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Speech Language Pathology Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Recreational Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Neurobehavioral Rehabilitation Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Dietician/Nutritional therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Respiratory Therapist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Registered Nurse	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Social Worker	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Certified Fitness Trainer	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Agency		Yes	Brain injuries
Counselor	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Psychologist	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Board Certified Behavior Analyst	Yes	Yes	Brain injuries
Vocational Aide		Yes	Brain Injuries. The aide must be working under the direct supervision of an occupational or vocational therapist.
Certified Case Manager	Yes	Yes	Brain Injuries

# Michigan Brain Injury Waiver Attachment C: Brain Injury Services and Rates

Service	Brief Service Description	Ra	te
BI Day Treatment Program	Day treatment program, per hour	\$	40.17
BI Transitional Residential			
Rehabilitation Services	Long-term residential therapies with complex level of		
	care, without room and board, per diem	\$	358.08
	Long-term residential therapies with intermediate		
	level of care, without room and board, per diem	\$	327.19
	Long-term residential therapies with minimal level of		
	care, without room and board, per diem	\$	296.30
BI HCBS Rehabilitation Services	Services performed by a qualified physical therapist,		
	per hour	\$	78.12
	Services performed by a qualified occupational		
	therapist, per hour	\$	63.39
	Services performed by a qualified speech-language		
	pathologist, per hour	\$	78.12
	Activity therapy, per session (45 minutes or more)	\$	66.54
Case Management	Targeted case management, per month	\$	291.57
Supported Employment	Supported employment, per 15 minutes	\$	7.80
Prevocational Services	Skills training and development, per 15 minutes	\$	12.51
Counseling	Behavioral health counseling and therapy, per 15		
	minutes	\$	22.37
Environmental Accessibility			
Adaptations	Home modifications; per service		Varies
Specialized Medical Equipment,	Exercise Equipment		Varies
Supplies, and Assistive Devices	Bathtub wall rail, each		Varies
	Bathtub rail, floor base		Varies
	Toilet rail, each		Varies
	Raised toilet seat		Varies
	Tub stool or bench	<u> </u>	Varies
	Bed accessory; board, table, or support device, any		
	type		Varies
	Personal care item, NOS, each		Varies
	Misc. therapeutic items & supplies, retail purchases,		
	NOC	-	Varies
	Specialized supply, NOS, waiver	<u> </u>	Varies
	Specialized medical equipment, NOS, waiver		Varies
Community Transition Services	Community transition, waiver; per service		Varies

# Attachment D Budget Neutrality Form

Section 1115 Medicaid Demonstrations should be budget neutral. This means the Demonstration cannot cost the federal government more than what would have otherwise been spent absent the Demonstration. In this section, the state must provide its explanation of how the Demonstration program will achieve budget neutrality and the data to support its rationale.

New Demonstration Request: The following form provides guidance on some of the most commonly used data elements for demonstrating budget neutrality. CMS is available to provide technical assistance to individual states to identify any other elements needed to demonstrate budget neutrality for their specific request. Use the accompanying Excel Workbook to submit supporting data, following the instructions below. All expenditure totals in the Excel Workbook are total computable expenditures (both federal and state shares combined), unless indicated otherwise.

- I. Without- and With-Waiver Projections for Historical Medicaid Populations
- A. Recent Historical Actual or Estimated Data

Provide historic data, actual or estimated, for the last five years pertaining to the Medicaid Populations or sub-Populations (Populations broken out by cost categories) in the Demonstration program.

The "Historical Data" tab from the Table Shell contains a structured template for entering these data. There are slots for three Medicaid Populations; more slots should be added as needed. The year headers "HY 1," "HY 2," etc., should be replaced with the actual historical years.

The Medicaid Populations submitted for budget neutrality purposes should correspond to the Populations reported in Section II. If not identical, a crosswalk must be provided that relates the budget neutrality Populations to the Section II populations. Use the tables below to provide descriptions of the populations defined for budget neutrality, and the cross-walk to Section II.

States that are submitting amendments or extension requests and that wish to add new Medicaid populations can use the "Historical Data" tab to provide 5 years of historical data for the new populations.

Population/Sub-Population Name:	Brain Injury Beneficiaries in Nursing Homes and Hospitals
Brief Description	Expenditures are based on a blend of average costs for nursing homes, NH vent, and hospitals.
Relationship to Section II	Mandatory, Optional and Medically Needy groups

Population/Sub-Population Name:	
Brief Description	
Relationship to Section II	

Population/Sub-Population Name:	
Brief Description	
Relationship to Section II	

Population/Sub-Population Name:	
Brief Description	
Relationship to Section II	

Explain the sources and methodology used for the actual and/or estimated historical data. If actual data have been provided, explain the source of the data (MMIS data, other state system Medicaid data, other program data, etc.) and the program(s) and source(s) of program funding that the data represent. Indicate if the data represent all Medicaid expenditures for the population. For example, are they inclusive of long-term care expenditures? Were the expenditures reported on the CMS-64? If the data provided are a combination of actual and estimated data, provide the dates pertaining to each type of data. If any of the data are estimated, provide a detailed explanation concerning how the estimated data were developed.

The historical cost is estimated utilizing MMIS data. Since the Brain Injury Waiver was not in place in the past, we determined that those beneficiaries would have obtained the majority of their needed care in a nursing home, with or without need for a ventilator, or in a hospital. The estimates for the facilities are based on a blend of average costs during those periods for nursing homes, nursing homes with ventilator units, and hospital stays, as it was assumed that beneficiaries would have obtained the majority of their needed care in those settings. The mix of facility type for this estimate is based on historical information regarding the proportion of beneficiaries being serviced in those types of facilities during this historical period: Nursing Homes – 70%, Nursing Homes with Ventilator Units – 10%, and Hospitals – 20%. The rates used for each of those types of facilities are based on the average daily costs during each of the historical periods. The cost estimates were calculated for 12 months of the year for 100 individuals, which is the maximum number of beneficiaries that would be allowed to participate in the Brain Injury Waiver program each year.

# B. Bridge Period

Based on the ending date of the most recent year of historic data and the proposed Demonstration implementation date, a bridge period will apply to this proposal. Estimates of Demonstration costs must be trended across this bridge period when calculating the projected first year of

PMPM costs without the waiver.

In the blanks below, enter the last day of the most recent historical year, and the last day of the year immediately preceding the first Demonstration Year. The number of months between these dates is the length of the bridge period. Depending on the length of the available historical data series and data quality, each demonstration population could have its own unique bridge period.

Enter the number of months in the bridge period in the "WOW" tab of the Excel Workbook, in the grayed cell under "MONTHS OF AGING." The spreadsheet is programmed to project Demonstration Year PMPM expenditures and member month totals using historical trend rates and the length of bridge period, and assumes that the same bridge period applies to all calculations. Applicants should feel free to alter these programming features as needed.

Demonstration Bridge Period:

10/01/2015 01/01/2017

C. Without-Waiver Trend Rates, PMPM costs and Member Months with Justification

The WOW tab of the Excel Workbook is where the state displays its projections for what the cost of coverage for included Medicaid populations would be in the absence of the demonstration. A block of cells is provided to display the WOW estimates for each Medicaid population specified. Next to "Pop Type," the correct option should be selected to identify each group as a Medicaid population.

The workbook is programmed to project without-waiver (WOW) PMPM expenditures and member months using the most recent historical data, historical enrollment and per capita cost trends, and the length of bridge period specified. CMS policy is to use the lower of the state's historical trends and President's Budget trends to determine the WOW baseline.

Note that the workbook includes a projected Demonstration Year 0 (DY 00), which is an estimate of the last full year immediately prior to the projected demonstration start date. DY 00 is included to provide a common "jumping off point" for both WOW and with waiver (WW) projections.

### D. Risk

CMS will provide technical assistance to states to establish an appropriate budget neutrality methodology for their demonstration request. Potential methodologies include:

PER CAPITA METHOD: The state will be at risk for the per capita (PMPM) cost of individuals served by the Demonstration, to the extent these costs exceed those that would have been incurred absent the Demonstration (based on data shown and to be agreed to above). The state shall be at risk to repay CMS for the federal share of any costs in excess of the "Without Demonstration" cost, based on historical data shown above, which are the sum of the estimated PMPM costs times the number of member months by Population. The state shall not be at risk for the number of member months of participation in the Demonstration, to the extent that they may increase above initial projections.

AGGREGATE METHOD: The state will be at risk for both the number of member months used under the Demonstration, as well as the per capita cost for Demonstration participants; to the extent these exceed the "without waiver" costs and member months that are agreed to based on the data provided above.

E. Historical Medicaid Populations: With-Waiver PMPM Cost and Member Month Projections

The "WW" tab of the Excel Workbook is for use by the State to enter its projected WW PMPM cost and member month projections for historical populations. In general, these can be different from the proposed without-waiver baseline. If the State's demonstration is designed to reduce

PMPM costs, the number of member months by category and year should be the same here as in the without-waiver projection. (This is the default formulation used in the Excel Workbook.)

F. Justification for With-Waiver Trend Rates, PMPM Costs and Member Months

The State must provide below a justification for the proposed with-waiver trend rate and the methodology used by the State to arrive at the proposed trend rate, estimates of PMPM costs, and number of member months.

This trend rate for the With-Waiver estimate is determined from the recommended Diversionary Model Budget Neutrality Workbook provided by CMS. It is the 5 year average of annual change calculated from the historic data. That 5 year average was used as the trend rate to project the PMPM costs for each of the future 5 years of this Brain Injury Waiver program that is planned to begin on January 1, 2017. It was estimated that this waiver will not be fully enrolled during the first 5 years of the demonstration period. However, partial enrollment in the waiver program will mean fewer beneficiaries would remain in nursing facilities, thus diverting those costs to the waiver program that has lower PMPM costs.

### II. Cost Projections for New Populations

This section is to report cost projections for new title XIX Populations. These could be Populations or sub-Populations that will be added to the state's Medicaid program under the Demonstration, including "Expansion Populations" that are not provided for in the Act but are created under the Demonstration.

In the table below, list all of the New Populations and explain their relationship to the eligibility groups listed in Section II.

Population Name	Brief Description	Cross-Walk to Section II
BIW Participants	MA eligible individuals with qualifying brain injury	Mandatory, Optional, Medically Needy

Justification for New Populations' Trend Rate, PMPM and Member Month Projections

The state must provide below a justification for the proposed trend rate, estimates of PMPM costs, and number of member months for new populations, including a description of the data sources and estimation methodology used to produce the estimates. Historical data provided to support projections for new populations can be displayed in the Excel Workbook's Historic Data tab.

### Refer to Attachment D Section F.II. Cost Projections for New Populations

Some state proposals may include populations that could be made eligible through a State plan

amendment, but instead will be offered coverage strictly through the Demonstration. These populations are referred to as "hypotheticals" and CMS is available to provide technical assistance to states considering whether a Demonstration population could be treated as a hypothetical population.

III. Disproportionate Share Hospital Expenditure Offset

Is the state is proposing to use a reduction in Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) Claims to offset Demonstration costs in the calculation of budget neutrality for the Demonstration?

 $\Box$  Yes  $\blacksquare$  No

If yes, the state must provide data to demonstrate that the combination of Demonstration expenditures and the remaining DSH expenditures will not exceed the lower of the state's historical DSH spending amount or the state's DSH Allotment for each year of the Demonstration. The state may provide Adjusted DSH Claim Amounts if additional DSH claims are pending due to claims lag or other reasons.

In the DSH tab of the Excel Workbook, enter the state's DSH allotments and actual DSH spending for the five most recent Federal fiscal years in Panel 1. All figures entered should represent the federal share of DSH allotments and spending.

Provide an explanation for any Adjusted DSH Claim Amounts:

In Panel 2 of the Excel Workbook, enter projected DSH allotments for the federal fiscal years that will overlap the proposed Demonstration period, and in the following row, enter projections for what DSH spending would be in the absence of the demonstration. All figures entered should represent the federal share of DSH allotments and spending.

The Excel Workbook is set up to allow for the possibility that Demonstration Years will not coincide with federal fiscal years. If this is the case, and the Demonstration is proposed to last for five full years, then the Demonstration will be in existence for parts of six federal fiscal years. FFY 00 is the federal fiscal year during which the Demonstration is proposed to begin, and FFY 05 is the federal fiscal year that contains the Demonstration's proposed end date. CMS encourages states that use DSH diversion in their budget neutrality model to define Demonstration Years so that they align with the Federal fiscal years. (If Demonstration Years do align with Federal fiscal years, it is not necessary to populate the column for FFY 00.)

In Panel 3 of the Excel Workbook, the rows are set up to be used as follows. All amounts entered in Panel 3 are Federal share.

- State DSH Allotment: Formulas in the Excel Workbook automatically enter the same DSH allotment projects as are shown in Panel 2.
- State DSH Claim Amount: Enter the amounts that the state projects will be spent on DSH payments to hospitals for each federal fiscal year that overlaps with the proposed demonstration period.
- Maximum DSH Allotment Available for Diversion: If the state wishes to propose a dollar limit on the amount of potential DSH spending that is diverted each year, enter those amounts here. If no such limit is proposed, leave blank.
- Total DSH Allotment Diverted: The Excel Workbook is structured to populate the cells in this row from amounts entered in Panel 4. CMS's default assumption is that DSH diversion spending will align with the Federal fiscal year DSH allotments based on date of service. The Excel Workbook allocates DSH diversion spending from one or two overlapping Demonstration Years to each Federal fiscal year DSH allotment.
- DSH Allotment Available for DSH Diversion Less Amount Diverted: This row provides a check to ensure that diverted DSH spending does not exceed the Maximum DSH Allotment amount specified by the State. If no Maximum DSH Allotment, delete the formulas in this row.

• DSH Allotment Projected to be Unused: This row provides a check to ensure that the combination of diverted DSH spending plus DSH payments to hospitals does not exceed the DSH allotment each year.

Panel 4 of the Excel Workbook provides space for the state to indicate amounts of DSH diversion spending are planned for each Demonstration Year, and specify how much of that amount is to be assigned to the overlapping Federal fiscal years. DSH diversion spending is entered here as a total computable expenditures. An FMAP rate is needed for each total computable spending amount entered to enable it to be converted into a federal share equivalent that will appear in Panel 3. The amounts shown in the Total Demo Spending From Diverted DSH row automatically appear in the Summary tab in the Without Waiver panel.

Explanation of Estimates, Methodology and Data

IV. Summary of Budget Neutrality

The Excel Workbook's Summary tab shows an initial assessment of budget neutrality for the Demonstration. Formulas are included that reference cells in the WOW, WW, and DSH tabs so that projected WOW and WW expenditures for each category of expenditure appear in tabular form and can be summarized by Demonstration Year, and for the entire proposed duration of the Demonstration. The Variance shown for the entire duration of the demonstration must be non-negative.

As indicated above, spending estimates for Other WOW Categories and Other WW Categories should be entered directly into the Summary tab where indicated.

V. Additional Information to Demonstrate Budget Neutrality

Provide any additional information the State believes is necessary for CMS to complete its analysis of the budget neutrality submission.

The report for this Budget Neutrality submission uses the Diversionary Model Budget Neutrality Workbook rather than the standard 1115 Demonstration Budget Neutrality Workbook, as recommended by CMS. In addition, we anticipate the Brain Injury Waiver will provide better health outcomes, and overall cost will be less for persons with brain injuries living in the community versus staying in nursing homes and hospitals.

# Section F. II. Cost Projections for New Populations

### **Brain Injury Day Treatment Program**

Enrollees require supervision and monitoring. Reinforce skills learned during rehabilitation program. At adult day care.

25 individuals would utilize this service for 4 hours per day, 2.5 days per week for 20 weeks.

### **Brain Injury Rehabilitation Services**

Individuals needing behavioral health care in a residential treatment program with varying degrees of level of care – Complex/High Tech, Intermediate, and Minimal. Each person would have different needs for the rehabilitation services.

Estimate that 15 people would need the complex/high tech services for 40 days, then the intermediate services for 40 days, then 20 days for the minimal services.

Estimate that 35 people would begin with intermediate services for 40 days, then 20 days for the minimal services

Estimate that 30 people would only need the minimal services for approximately 20 days No services needed by 20 individuals

### **Brain Injury Rehabilitation Services**

Rehabilitation services in HCBS – combination of needed physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech-language therapy, and activity therapy.

Estimate that 40 individuals would need these various therapies provided 3 days each week for 1 hour sessions over a period of 8 weeks.

### **Case Management**

Utilized by each of the 100 individuals.

# Supported Employment

25 Individuals for 3 months, 12 days per month

### **Pre-Vocational Services**

25 individuals for 4 months, 12 days per month

### **Counseling**

40 individuals for 3 months, 8 days per month

### **Environmental Accessibility Adaptations**

Home modifications needed

Estimated 10 individuals would need these type of modifications with average cost of \$2,000.

### Section F. II. Cost Projections for New Populations

### Specialized Medical Equipment, Supplies, and Assistive Devices

Estimated 60 individuals would utilize this service with average cost of \$150

### **NURSING HOME ESTIMATE**

Estimate for Member Months for the five future years

2017 - 500

2018 - 600

2019 - 675

2020 – 725

2021 - 750

Also assumed the portion of individuals at various institutions:

70% - Nursing Facility

10% - Nursing Facility (With Ventilator unit)

20% - Hospital

### Attachment E Demonstration Financing Form

Please complete this form to accompany Section VI of the application in order to describe the financing of the Demonstration.

The State proposes to finance the non-federal share of expenditures under the Demonstration using the following (please check all that are applicable):

State General Funds

□ Voluntary intergovernmental transfers from governmental entities. (Please specify and provide a funding diagram in the narrative section – Section VI of the application).

□ Voluntary certified public expenditures from governmental entities. (Please specify and provide a funding diagram in the narrative section – Section VI of the application).

- □ Provider taxes. (Provide description the narrative section Section VI of the application).
- Other (If the State is interested in other funding or financing arrangements, please describe. Some examples could include, but are not limited to, safety net care pools, designated state health programs, Accountable Care Organization-like structures, bundled payments, etc.)

Section 1903(a)(1) provides that Federal matching funds are only available for expenditures made by States for services under the approved State Plan. To ensure that program dollars are used only to pay for Medicaid services, we are asking States to confirm to CMS that providers retain 100 per cent of the payments for services rendered or coverage provided.

Do providers receive and retain the total Medicaid expenditures claimed by the State (includes normal per diem, DRG, DSH, fee schedule, global payments, supplemental payments, enhanced payments, capitation payments, other), including the Federal and non-Federal share (NFS)?

 $\blacksquare$  Yes  $\Box$  No

If no, provide an explanation of the provider payment arrangement.

Do any providers (including managed care organizations [MCOs], prepaid inpatient health plans [PIHPs] and prepaid ambulatory health plans [PAHPs]) participate in such activities as intergovernmental transfers (IGTs) or certified public expenditure (CPE) payments, or is any portion of payments are returned to the State, local governmental entity, or other intermediary organizations?

 $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No

If providers are required to return any portion of any payment, please provide a full description of the repayment process. Include in your response a full description of the methodology for the return of any of the payments, a complete listing of providers that return a portion of their payments, the amount of percentage of payments that are returned, and the disposition and use of the funds once they are returned to the State (i.e., general fund, medical services account, etc.). Please indicate the period that the following data is from.

Section 1902(a) (2) provides that the lack of adequate funds from other sources will not result in the lowering of the amount, duration, scope, or quality of care and services available under the plan.

Please describe how the NFS of each type of Medicaid payment (normal per diem, DRG, fee schedule, global, supplemental, enhanced payments, capitation payments, other) is funded.

Please describe whether the NFS comes from appropriations from the legislature to the Medicaid agency, through IGT agreements, CPEs, provider taxes, or any other mechanism used by the State to provide NFS. Note that, if the appropriation is not to the Medicaid agency, the source of the state share would necessarily be derived through either an IGT or CPE. In this case, please identify the agency to which the funds are appropriated.

Please provide an estimate of total expenditures and NFS amounts for each type of Medicaid payment. Please indicate the period that the following data is from:

If any of the NFS is being provided using IGTs or CPEs, please fully describe the matching arrangement, including when the state agency receives the transferred amounts from the local governmental entity transferring the funds.

If CPEs are used, please describe the methodology used by the State to verify that the total expenditures being certified are eligible for Federal matching funds is in accordance with 42 CFR 433.51(b).

For any payment funded by CPEs or IGTs, please provide the following, and indicate the period that the data is from:

Name of Entity Transferring/ Certifying Funds	Type of Entity (State, County,	Amount Transferred or Certified	Does the entity have taxing authority?	Did the entity receive appropriations?	Amount of appropriations
	City)				
N/A					

Section 1902(a) (30)(A) requires that payments for services be consistent with efficiency, economy, and quality of care. Section 1903(a) (1) and 2105(a)(1) provide for Federal financial participation to States for expenditures for services under an approved State Plan. If supplemental or enhanced payments are made, please provide the total amount for each type of supplemental or enhanced payment made to each provider type, and indicate the time period that that the data is from.

Provider Type	Supplemental or Enhance Payment Amount
N/A	
N/A	

Please provide a detailed description of the methodology used by the State to estimate the upper payment limit for each class of providers (State owned or operated, non-state government owned or operated, and privately owned or operated).

Does any governmental provider or contractor receive payments (normal per diem, DRG, fee schedule, global, supplemental, enhanced, and other) that, in the aggregate, exceed its reasonable costs of providing services?

If yes, provide an explanation.

In the case of MCOs, PIHPs, PAHPs, are there any actual or potential payments which supplement or otherwise exceed the amount certified as actuarially sound as required under 42 CFR 438.6(c)? (These payments could be for such things as incentive arrangements with contractors, risk sharing mechanisms such as stop-loss limits or risk corridors, or direct payments to providers such as DSH hospitals, academic medical centers, or FQHCs.)

□ Yes □ No □ Not Applicable

If so, how do these arrangements comply with the limits on payments in 438.6(c)(5) and 438.60 of the regulations?

If payments exceed the cost of services (as defined above), does the State recoup the excess and return the Federal share of the excess to CMS on the quarterly expenditure report?

☑ Yes □ No

Use of other Federal Funds

Are other	federal	funds,	from CM	IS or an	other	federal	agency,	being	used fo	or the	Demor	nstration
program?		Yes			No		- •	•				

If yes, provide a list below of grants the State is receiving from CMS or other federal agencies. CMS must ensure these funds are not being used as a source of the non-federal share, unless such use is permitted under federal law. In addition, this will help to identify potential areas of duplicative efforts and highlight that this demonstration is building off of an existing grant or program.

Source of Federal Funds	Amount of Federal Funds	Period of Funding
N/A		
N/A		
N/A		

### Attachment F Brain Injury Waiver Workbook

# Interim Section 1115 Demonstration Application Budget Neutrality Table Shell

1       6       Fears OF HISTORIC DATA       1       1       9       2 <th></th> <th>A</th> <th>в</th> <th>U</th> <th>Q</th> <th>Ш</th> <th>ш</th> <th>G</th>		A	в	U	Q	Ш	ш	G
SPECIFY TIME PERIOD AND ELIGIBILITY GROUP DEPICTED:       SFY 2013       SFY 2014       SFY 2014       SFY 2015       S-Y-EAR         Brain Injurved Individuals in NH/NH-Wirt (Estrat)       S17 3001       S17 3001       S17 3001       S17 3001       S17 3001       S17 3001       S17 3000       S10 3000	-	5 YEARS OF HISTORIC DATA						
SPECIFY TIME PERIOD AND ELIGIBILITY GROUP DEPICTED:       SFY 2011       SFY 2013       SFY 2014       SFY 2015       S-YEAM         Rain Intrued Individuals in NHINH-WILLEST       S 11,703,600       \$ 11,703,600       \$ 12,369,600       \$ 12,369,600       \$ 12,736,800       \$ 17,200       \$ 5-YEAM         TOTAL EXPENDITURES       \$ 11,703,600       \$ 11,703,600       \$ 10,137,00       \$ 10,308,00       \$ 12,369,600       \$ 12,736,800       \$ 10,614,00       <	2							
Brain Injury (Estd)         SFY 2011         SFY 2013         SFY 2014         SFY 2015         SFI 400	З	SPECIFY TIME PERIOD AND ELIGIBILITY GROUP DI	EPICTED:					
Brain Intrreed Individuals in NH/NH-Wit (Est d)         SFY 2014         SFY 2014         SFY 2014         SFY 2015	4							
	ß	Brain Iniured Individuals in NH/NH-W/H (Est'd)	SFY 2011	SFY 2012	SFY 2013	SFY 2014	SFY 2015	5-YEARS
ELICIGIBLE MEMBER MONTHS1.2001.2001.2001.2001.200PMPM COSTs9,753.00s1.0,137.00s1.00.05s1.00PMPM COSTs9,753.00s1.0,137.00mVML CHANGEs1.00sS-YEATOTAL EXPENDITUREs9,753.00s10,137.00mVML CHANGEs1.00ssTOTAL EXPENDITUREs9,753.00s10,137.00mVML CHANGEs1.00ssTOTAL EXPENDITUREs3.94%MNUL CHANGE0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%ssMPM COSTs3.94%MNUL CHANGEs0.00%0.00%0.00%2.43%sMPM COSTs3.94%mVL CHANGE0.00%0.00%0.00%2.43%sMPM COSTs3.94%mVL CHANGE0.00%0.00%0.00%2.43%MPM COSTs3.94%mVL CHANGE0.00%0.00%0.00%0.00%Intur (std)mmPM COSTs3.94%mVL CHANGE0.00%0.00%0.00%Intur (std)mmPM COSTs3.94%mVL CHANGEmVL CHANGEs2.43%Intur (std)mmPM COSTssssssIntur (std)mmPM COSTssssssIntur (std)mmPM COSTmmPM COSTmmPM COSTmmPM COSTmmPM COSTmmPM COSTIntur (std)mmPM CO	9							
PMPMCOST         \$ 9,753.00         \$ 10,137.00         \$ 10,308.00         \$ 10,362.00         \$ 10,614.00         \$ 5*YEA           TRENDRATES         > 0.030%         \$ 0,030%         \$ 0.030%         \$ 0.030%         \$ 0.52%         \$ 2.43%         \$ AVERAL           TOTAL EXPENDITURE         > 0.00%         0.05%         0.05%         0.03%         0.05%         \$ 2.43%         \$ AVERAL           PMPM COST         > 0.00%         0.05%         0.05%         0.05%         \$ 0.05%         \$ 2.43%         \$ AVERAL           Image: Function of the state of the sta	$\sim$	ELIGIBLE MEMBER MONTHS	1,200	1,200	1,200	1,200	1,200	
TRENDRATES       Image       S-YEA         TRENDRATES       0.00       0.52%       2.43%         CDTAL EXPENDITURE       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%         ELIGIBLE MEMBER MONTHS       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%         PMPM COST       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%         PMPM COST       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%         Momber months       0.00%       0.52%       2.43%       0.05%         Brain Injury (Estd)       1.69%       0.52%       2.43%       0.05%       0.05%       0.05%         Momber months are based on approximations of number of individuals that historically may have been eligible for the new Brain Injury Waiver program.       0.52%       2.43%       0.05%	ø	PMPM COST				10,362.00		
TOTALEXPENDITURE       O       ANUAL CHANCE       ANUAL CHANCE       AVERAL         TOTALEXPENDITURE       3.94%       1.69%       0.52%       2.43%       AVERAL         ELIGIBLE MEMBER MONTHS       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       2.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%         PMPM COST       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       2.43%       0.00%	റ	TREND RATES						5-YEAR
TOTAL EXPENDITURE         3.94%         1.69%         0.52%         2.43%           ELIGIBLE MEMBER MONTHS         0.00%         0.00%         0.00%         0.00%           PMPM COST         3.94%         1.69%         0.52%         2.43%           PMPM COST         3.94%         1.69%         0.52%         2.43%           PMPM COST         0.00%         0.00%         0.00%         0.00%           Induction         1.69%         0.52%         2.43%         1.69%           Member         0.52%         0.52%         2.43%         1.69%           Induction         1.69%         0.52%	10				<b>ANNUAL CHANGE</b>			AVERAGE
ELIGIBLE MEMBER MONTHS       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%         PMPM COST       3.94%       3.94%       1.69%       0.52%       2.43%       2.43%         PMPM COST       PMPM COST       PMPM COST       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%         PMPM COST       PMPM COST       PMPM COST       PMPM COST       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%         PMPM COST       PMPM COST       PMPM COST       PMPM COST       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%       0.00%         PMPM COST       PMPM COST       PMPM COST       PMPM COST       PMPM COST       0.00% <th>-</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>3.94%</th> <th>4.69%</th> <th></th> <th>2.43%</th> <th>2.14%</th>	-			3.94%	4.69%		2.43%	2.14%
PMPM COST       3.94%       1.69%       0.52%       2.43%         Prain Injury (Estd)       1.69%       0.52%       2.43%       1.69%         Brain Injury (Estd)       1.00%       1.69%       0.52%       2.43%         Injury Varier program.       1.00%       1.69%       0.52%       2.43%         Brain Injury (Estd)       1.00%       1.00%       1.00%       1.00%       1.00%         Brain Injury Varier program.       1.00% </td <th>12</th> <td></td> <td></td> <td>%00.0</td> <td>%00.0</td> <td>%00'0</td> <td>%00.0</td> <td>0.00%</td>	12			%00.0	%00.0	%00'0	%00.0	0.00%
	13			3.94%	1.69%		2.43%	2.14%
	14							
	15							
	16							
	17							
	18							
		Brain Injury (Est'd) 1. Member months are based on approximations of nur.	mber of individuals	that historically ma	y have been eligible fo	r the new Brain		
		Injury Waiver program.						
	0		s for Nursing Home that the majority of (	s, Nursing Homes care received by th	with Ventilator units, a ese beneficiaries woul	nd Hospital stays. d occur in these		

## DEMONSTRATION WITHOUT WAIVER (WOW) BUDGET PROJECTION: Coverage Costs for Populations

ELIGIBILITY TREND	TREND	MONTHS	<b>BASE YR</b>	TREND	DEMONSTRATION YEARS (DY)	<b>TION YEARS</b>	(DY)			TOTAL
GROUP	RATE1	OF AGING	DY 00	RATE 2	DY 01	DY 02	DY 03	DY 04	DY 05	wow
Beneficiaries with Brain Injury in NH/NH-Vent/Host	with Brain Ir	ijury in NH/NI	H-Vent/Hospi	pital						
Pop Type:	Medicaid									
Eligible										
Member										
Months	0.0%		1,200	0.0%	1,200	1,200	1,200	1,200	1,200	
PMPM Cost	2.1%	12	12 \$10,841.14	2.1%	\$11,073.14	\$11,073.14 \$11,310.11	\$11,552.15	\$11,799.37	\$12,051.88	
Total										
Expenditure					\$13,287,768	\$13,572,132	\$13,862,580	\$14,159,244	\$13,287,768   \$13,572,132   \$13,862,580   \$14,159,244   \$14,462,256   \$69,343,980	\$69,343,980

Attachment F BIW Workbook Form

## DEMONSTRATION WITH WAIVER (WW) BUDGET PROJECTION:

**Coverage Costs for Populations** 

			DEMONSTR	DEMONSTRATION YEARS (DY)	(DY)			TOTAL WW
ELIGIBILITY		DEMO						
GROUP	DY 00	RATE	DY 01	DY 02	DY 03	DY 04	DY 05	

Brain Injury Population Not Enrolled	ation Not Enrolle	d in Waiver	- -					
Pop Type:	Medicaid							
Eligible Member Months	1,200	0.0% 700	002	600	525	475	450	
PMPM Cost	\$10,841.14	2.1%	\$11,073.14	<b>2.1%</b> \$11,073.14 \$11,310.11 \$11,552.15 \$11,799.37 \$12,051.88	\$11,552.15	\$11,799.37	\$12,051.88	
Total Expenditure			\$7,751,198	\$7,751,198 \$6,786,066	\$6,064,879 \$5,604,701 \$5,423,346 \$31,630,190	\$5,604,701	\$5,423,346	\$31,630,190

Brain Injury Population Enrolled							
in Waiver							
Pop Type: Expansion							
Eligible Member							
Months		500	600	675	725	750	
PMPM Cost	2.1%	\$4,857.38	<b>2.1%</b> \$4,857.38 \$4,961.33 \$5,067.50 \$5,175.94 \$5,286.71	\$5,067.50	\$5,175.94	\$5,286.71	
							\$
Total Expenditure		\$2,428,690	\$2,428,690 \$2,976,798 \$3,420,563 \$3,752,557 \$3,965,033 16,543,640	\$3,420,563	\$3,752,557	\$3,965,033	16,543,640

services at a nursing facility or hospital. While we are targeting this waiver program for 100 beneficiaries during each year, we anticipate not having full With the proposed 1115 Demonstration waiver, individuals served through the Brain Injury Waiver are assumed to be diverted from obtaining Medicaid enrollment in the initial periods. We anticipate increased enrollment each year reducing the number of persons with brain injuries in nursing facilities or hospitals.

maximum number. Since we estimated the historic cost being 100 individuals in nursing facilities & hospitals, once this waiver is in place, those participating in the brain injury waiver would not be in nursing facilities. Thus higher costs that would have been for services in nursing facilities would be diverted to The proposed 1115 Demonstration waiver seeks to provide a coverage benefit to individuals with certain brain injuries so they can obtain rehabilitation services while residing within the community. We estimated that the number of eligible participants would increase each year before reaching the 100 those that can be done in the community at a lower cost. Attachment F **BIW Workbook Form** 

### Panel 1: Historic DSH Claims for the Last Five Fiscal Years: IRECENT PAST FEDERAL FISCAL YEARS

	20	20	20	20	20
State DSH Allotment (Federal share)					
State DSH Claim Amount (Federal share)					
DSH Allotment Left Unspent (Federal share)	-	- \$	- \$	-	' \$

# Panel 2: Projected Without Waiver DSH Expenditures for FFYs That Overlap the Demonstration Period FEDERAL FISCAL YEARS THAT OVERLAP DEMONSTRATION YEARS

-	
2	
=	
-	
-	
_	
-	υ
_	ō
-	
	5
۰.	
•	ш
	-
٦.	
٦.	
	1
	5
	E
	1.
	<
5	-
•	
۰.	
	υ
۰.	-
-	
0	-
٩.	C
	-
	C
)	-
	-
1	
	-
۰.	-
	0
	ш
-	
	-
2	
	C
	-
÷	-
٠	1
5	-
	L.
2	
	Π.
÷.,	U
2	1
	0
	<
	<
5	< U
Ś	< L/
5	< U >
5	< U >
5	<ul><li></li></ul>
5	
50000	
	VEV IVUSI
22220	LICCAL VEA
2222020111	VIV IVUSII I
	VI EICONI VEV
	VI LICUVI VEV
	VIN LICUMI VEV
	DAI EISCAI VEA
	TEAL FIELAL VEA
	VEVI LICUVI VEV
	VEDVI CISCAI VEV
	VEDVI CICUNI AEV
	CDEDAI EISCAI VEA
	EEDEDAT EISCAT VEADS THAT OVEDLAD DEMONSTDATION VE

	FFY 00 (20 )	FFY 01 (20 )	FFY 02 (20 )	FFY 03 (20 )	FFY 04 (20 )	FFY 05 (20 )
State DSH Allotment (Federal share)						
State DSH Claim Amount (Federal share)						
DSH Allotment Projected to be Unused (Federal share)		- \$	- \$	-	- \$	۔ ج

# Panel 3: Projected With Waiver DSH Expenditures for FFYs That Overlap the Demonstration Period FEDERAL FISCAL YEARS THAT OVERLAP DEMONSTRATION YEARS

	FFY 00 (20	20 )	FFY 01 (20)	FFY 02 (20	<u> </u>	FFY 03 (20)	FF	FFY 04 (20 )	FFY 05 (20)
State DSH Allotment (Federal share)	Ф	•	' ب	Ь		۱ د	φ		۰ ج
State DSH Claim Amount (Federal share)									
Maximum DSH Allotment Available for Diversion (Federal share)									
Total DSH Allotment Diverted (Federal share)	\$		۰ ډ	φ		۰ ډ	မ		۰ ج
DSH Allotment Available for DSH Diversion Less Amount									
Diverted (Federal share, must be non-negative)	Ф	ı	۰ ج	Ф	,	، ج	φ	ı	۰ ج
DSH Allotment Projected to be Unused (Federal share, must be									
non-negative)	\$	ı	•	\$		- \$	\$	I	•

### Panel 4: Projected DSH Diversion Allocated to DYs

DEMONSTRATION YEARS					
	DY 01	DY 02	DY 03	DY 04	DY 05
DSH Diversion to Leading FFY (total computable)					
FMAP for Leading FFY					
DSH Diversion to Trailing FFY (total computable)					
FMAP for Trailing FFY					
Total Demo Spending From Diverted DSH (total computable)	۔ ج	، د	ه	م	ب ا

Attachment F BIW Workbook Form

### **BUDGET NEUTRAILITY SUMMARY**

Without-Waiver Total Expenditures

	DEMONSTRATION YEARS (DY)	ON YEARS (DY)				TOTAL
	DY 01	DY 02	DY 03	DY 04	DY 05	
<u>Medicaid Populations</u> Beneficiaries with Brain Injury in NH/NH- Vent/Hosp	\$13,287,768	\$13,572,132	\$13,862,580	\$14,159,244	\$14,462,256	\$69,343,980
TOTAL	\$13,287,768	\$13,572,132	\$13,862,580	\$13,287,768 \$13,572,132 \$13,862,580 \$14,159,244 \$14,462,256 \$69,343,980	\$14,462,256	\$69,343,980

### With-Waiver Total Expenditures

	DEMONSTRATI	DEMONSTRATION YEARS (DY)				TOTAL
	DY 01	DY 02	DY 03	DY 04	DY 05	
<u>Medicaid Populations</u> Brain Injury Population Not Enrolled in Waiver	\$7,751,198	\$6,786,066	\$6,064,879	\$5,604,701	\$5,423,346	\$31,630,190
<u>Expansion Populations</u> Brain Injury Population Enrolled in Waiver	\$ 2,428,690	\$ 2,976,798	\$ 3,420,563	\$ 3,752,557	\$ 3,965,033	\$ 16,543,640
I						
TOTAL	\$ 10,179,888	\$ 9,762,864	\$ 9,485,441	\$ 9,357,257	\$ 9,388,379	\$ 48,173,829
VARIANCE	\$ 3,107,880	\$ 3,809,268	\$ 4,377,139	\$ 4,801,987	\$ 5,073,878	\$ 21,170,151

Page 5

### ATTACHMENT G – PUBLIC NOTICES

Tribal Notice – L-16-27

Stakeholder Notice – L16.43

Abbreviated Public Notice

Newspaper Posting for Brain Injury Waiver

Press Release for Brain Injury Waiver

BIW Public Hearing Presentation for August 10, 2016

BIW Public Hearing Presentation for August 17, 2016

Consultation Summary for BIW



STATE OF MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIRECTOR

RICK SNYDER GOVERNOR

LANSING

July 12, 2016

NAME TITLE ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP

Dear Tribal Chair and Health Director:

**RE:** New Section 1115 Waiver Proposal – Brain Injury Waiver

This letter, in compliance with Section 1902(a)(73) and Section 2107(e)(1)(C) of the Social Security Act, serves as notice of intent to all Tribal Chairs and Health Directors of the request by the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) to submit a Section 1115 waiver.

MDHHS is seeking approval from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) for a §1115 Demonstration Waiver to provide necessary services and supports to persons suffering qualifying brain injuries who, but for the provision of these services, would otherwise be served in an institutional setting. The Brain Injury Waiver (BIW) provides critical brain injury-specific rehabilitation and support in the post-acute injury period with the goal of assisting the participant in becoming capable of living in the most independent setting. MDHHS expects little or no impact on Tribal members. The proposed effective date of this waiver is January 1, 2017.

Input regarding this waiver is highly encouraged and comments regarding this Notice of Intent may be submitted to Lorna Elliott-Egan, MDHHS Liaison to the Michigan Tribes. Lorna can be reached at 517-284-4034 or via e-mail at <u>Elliott-EganL@michigan.gov</u>. **Please provide all input by September 10, 2016.** Two public hearings will be held at the dates, times and locations below.

- August 10, 2016, 10:00-11:30 a.m. Webinar: <a href="https://connectpro14871085.adobeconnect.com/braininjury/">https://connectpro14871085.adobeconnect.com/braininjury/</a> Refer to the MDHHS website at <a href="https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs">www.michigan.gov/mdhhs</a> Programs >> Michigan Brain Injury (BI) Waiver for additional instructions.
- August 17, 2016, 1:00-2:30 p.m. Capitol Commons Center
   400 South Pine Street, Lower Level Conference Rooms E and F Lansing, Michigan 48909

L 16-27 July 12, 2016 Page 2

A copy of the complete §1115 waiver and waiver summary is available on the MDHHS website at <u>www.michigan.gov/mdhhs</u> >> Assistance Programs >> Health Care Coverage >> Michigan Brain Injury (BI) Waiver. You may request a hard copy of the complete §1115 waiver and waiver summary by contacting MDHHS at the address below or by email at <u>MSAPolicy@michigan.gov</u>. All comments on this topic should include a "Section 1115 – Brain Injury Waiver" reference somewhere in the written submission or the subject line if by email.

Michigan Department of Health and Human Services Medical Services Administration Program Policy Division P.O. Box 30479 Lansing, MI 48909-7979

In addition, MDHHS is offering to set up group or individual meetings for the purposes of consultation in order to discuss this waiver, according to the Tribes' preference. This consultation meeting will allow Tribes the opportunity to address any concerns and voice any suggestions, revisions, or objections to be relayed to the author of the proposal. If you would like additional information or wish to schedule a consultation meeting, please contact Lorna Elliott-Egan at the telephone number or email address provided above.

MDHHS appreciates the continued opportunity to work collaboratively with you to care for the residents of our state.

Sincerely,

his fring

Chris Priest, Director Medical Services Administration

 cc: Keri Toback, Region V, CMS Leslie Campbell, Region V, CMS Pamela Carson, Region V, CMS Ashley Tuomi, MHPA, Executive Director, American Indian Health and Family Services of Southeastern Michigan
 L. John Lufkins, Executive Director, Inter-Tribal Council of Michigan, Inc. Keith Longie, Acting Area Director, Indian Health Service - Bemidji Area Office Lorna Elliott-Egan, MDHHS

### Distribution List for L 16-27 July 12, 2016

Mr. Levi Carrick, Sr., Tribal Chairman, Bay Mills Indian Community Ms. Audrey Breakie, Health Director, Bay Mills (Ellen Marshall Memorial Center) Mr. Thurlow Samuel McClellan, Chairman, Grand Traverse Band Ottawa & Chippewa Indians Ms. JoAnne Cook, Tribal Vice Chair, Grand Traverse Band Ottawa & Chippewa Indians Ms. Loi Chambers, Health Director, Grand Traverse Band Ottawa/Chippewa Mr. Kenneth Meshigaud, Tribal Chairman, Hannahville Indian Community Ms. G. Susie Meshigaud, Health Director, Hannahville Health Center Mr. Warren C. Swartz, Jr., President, Keweenaw Bay Indian Community Ms. Carole LaPointe, Health Director, Keweenaw Bay Indian Community - Donald Lapointe Health/Educ Facility Mr. James Williams, Jr., Tribal Chairman, Lac Vieux Desert Band of Lake Superior Chippewa Indians Ms. Sadie Valliere, Health & Human Services Director, Lac Vieux Desert Band Mr. Larry Romanelli, Ogema, Little River Band of Ottawa Indians Mr. Donald MacDonald, Health Director, Little River Band of Ottawa Indians Ms. Regina Gasco-Bentley, Tribal Chairman, Little Traverse Bay Band of Odawa Indians Ms. Sharon Sierzputowski, Health Director, Little Traverse Bay Band of Odawa Ms. Leah Fodor, Chairperson, Match-E-Be-Nash-She-Wish Potawatomi Indians (Gun Lake Band) Ms. Phyllis Davis, Health Director, Match-E-Be-Nash-She-Wish Potawatomi Mr. Jamie Stuck, Tribal Chairman, Nottawaseppi Huron Band of Potawatomi Indians Ms. Rosalind Johnston, Health Director, Huron Potawatomi Inc.- Tribal Health Department Mr. John Warren, Tribal Chairman, Pokagon Band of Potawatomi Indians Mr. Matt Clay, Health Director, Pokagon Potawatomi Health Services Mr. Frank Cloutier, Tribal Chief, Saginaw Chippewa Indian Tribe Mrs. Karmen Fox, Executive Health Director, Nimkee Memorial Wellness Center Mr. Aaron Payment, Tribal Chairman, Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians Ms. Bonnie Culfa, Health Director, Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians - Health Center

CC: Keri Toback, Region V, CMS Leslie Campbell, Region V, CMS Pamela Carson, Region V, CMS Ashley Tuomi, MHPA, Executive Director, American Indian Health and Family Services of Southeastern Michigan
L. John Lufkins, Executive Director, Inter-Tribal Council of Michigan, Inc. Keith Longie, Acting Area Director, Indian Health Service - Bemidji Area Office Lorna Elliott-Egan, MDHHS



July 12, 2016

<Provider Name> <Provider Address 1> <Provider Address 2> <Provider City> <State> <zipcode5-zipcode4>

Dear Stakeholders and Interested Parties:

RE: New Section 1115 Waiver Proposal - Brain Injury Waiver

The Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) is seeking approval from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) for a §1115 Demonstration Waiver to provide necessary services and supports to persons suffering qualifying brain injuries who, but for the provision of these services, would otherwise be served in an institutional setting. The Brain Injury Waiver (BIW) provides critical brain injury-specific rehabilitation and support in the post-acute injury period with the goal of assisting the participant in becoming capable of living in the most independent setting.

The proposed effective date of this waiver is January 1, 2017.

A copy of the complete §1115 waiver and waiver summary is available on the MDHHS website at <u>www.michigan.gov/mdhhs</u> >> Assistance Programs >> Health Care Coverage >> Michigan Brain Injury (BI) Waiver. You may request a hard copy of the complete §1115 waiver and waiver summary by contacting MDHHS at the address below or by email at <u>MSAPolicy@michigan.gov</u>. All comments on this topic should include a "Section 1115 – Brain Injury Waiver" reference somewhere in the written submission or the subject line if by email. <u>Comments are due by August 26, 2016.</u>

> Michigan Department of Health and Human Services Medical Services Administration Medicaid Policy Section P.O. Box 30479 Lansing, MI 48909-7979

Two public hearings will be held at the dates, times and locations below.

 August 10, 2016, 10:00-11:30 a.m. Webinar: <u>https://connectpro14871085.adobeconnect.com/braininjury/</u> Refer to the MDHHS website at <u>www.michigan.gov/mdhhs</u> >> Assistance Programs >> Michigan Brain Injury (BI) Waiver for additional instructions. L 16-43 July 12, 2016 Page 2

> August 17, 2016, 1:00-2:30 p.m. Capitol Commons Center 400 South Pine Street, Lower Level Conference Rooms E and F Lansing, Michigan 48909

We thank you in advance for your participation.

Sincerely,

Chins Print

Chris Priest, Director Medical Services Administration

### PUBLIC NOTICE Michigan Department of Health and Human Services Medical Services Administration

### Section 1115 Waiver – Brain Injury Waiver Proposal

The Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) is seeking approval from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) for a §1115 Demonstration Waiver to provide necessary services and supports to persons suffering qualifying brain injuries who, but for the provision of these services, would otherwise be served in an institutional setting. The Brain Injury Waiver (BIW) provides critical brain injury-specific rehabilitation and support in the post-acute injury period with the goal of assisting the participant in becoming capable of living in the most independent setting. The proposed effective date of this waiver is January 1, 2017.

Two public hearings have been scheduled at the dates, times and locations below.

- August 10, 2016, 10:00-11:30 a.m. Webinar: https://connectpro14871085.adobeconnect.com/braininjury/ Refer to the MDHHS website at www.michigan.gov/mdhhs >> Assistance Programs >> Michigan Brain Injury (BI) Waiver for additional instructions.
- August 17, 2016, 1:00-2:30 p.m. Capitol Commons Center 400 South Pine Street, Lower Level Conference Rooms E and F Lansing, Michigan 48909

A copy of the complete §1115 waiver and waiver summary is available on the MDHHS website at <u>www.michigan.gov/mdhhs</u> >> Assistance Programs >> Health Care Coverage >> Michigan Brain Injury (BI) Waiver. You may request a hard copy of the complete §1115 waiver and waiver summary by contacting MDHHS at the address below or by email at <u>MSAPolicy@michigan.gov</u>. All comments on this topic should include a "Section 1115 – Brain Injury Waiver" reference somewhere in the written submission or the subject line if by email. **Comments are due by August 26, 2016**.

> Michigan Department of Health and Human Services Medical Services Administration Medicaid Policy Section P.O. Box 30479 Lansing, MI 48909-7979

winne L. Sytsma, Clerk

Jeffrey R. Sorensen, Supervisor

Supervisor PUBLIC NOTICE Michigan Department of Health and Human Services Medical Services Administration Section 1115 Walver Brain Inlury Walver Brain Inlury Walver

Medical Services Administration Section 1115 Waiver Brain Injury Waiver Proposal The Michigan Department of Heelth and Human Services (MDHHS) is seeking appro-val from the Centers for Medicare and Medicald Services (CMS) for a 51115 Demonstration Waiver to provide necessary services and supports to persons suffering qualifying brain injuries who, but for the pro-vision of these services, would otherwise be served In an institutional setting. The Brain Injury Waiver (BIW) provides critical brain Injury sectific rehabilitation and supports to be served In an institutional setting. The Brain Injury Waiver (BIW) provides critical brain Injury sectific rehabilitation and supports in the post-scute injury period with the poal of assisting the partic-pant in becoming capable of living in the most indures who but for be pro-sonal appearance or protest by letter, and his or her per-tities date of this waiver is January 1, 2017. Two public hearings have been scheduled at the dates, times and locations below. -August 10, 2016, 10:00-11:30 a.m. Webinas: https:// connect.pro14871085.adobe comect.com/brainifules, adobe

connectpr014871085.adobe connect.com/brainfinuty/ Refer to the MDHHS website at www.michgan.gov/ mdhhs >> Assistance Pro-grams >> Michigan Brain In-fury (B) Waiver for add-tional instructions. -August 17, 2016, 1:00-2:30 p.m.

tional instructions. •August 17, 2016, 1:00-2:30 p.m. Capitol Commons Center 400 South Pine Street Lower Level Conference Rooms E and F Lansing, Michigan 48909 A copy of the complete 51:115 waiver and waiver summary is available on the MDHHS website at www.inichigan. gov/mdhis >> A Assistance Programs >> Health Care Coverage >> Michigan Brain Injury (BI) Waiver. You may nequest a hard copy of the complete \$1:115 waiver and waiver summary by con-tacting MDHHS at the ad-dress below or by email at MSAPolicy@michigan.gov. All comments on this topic should include a "Section 1115 - Brain Injury Waiver" reference somewhere in the witten submission or the subject line If by email. Comments are due by August 26, 2016. Michigan Department of Health and Human Services Administration P.O. Box 30479 Lansing, MI 48909-7979

The second secon

Local sports news on mlive.com/sports

+

same, and to determine the sufficiency of the motions by the local governing bodies calling for consideration of the improvement and set the hearing for the approval of the assessment roll, and consider the same, and take public comment at the Port-age City Hall commencing at 7:00 p.m. on the 3rd day of August 2016, or as soon thereafter as may be heard.

be required.
PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NO-TICE that if the sufficiency of the motions by the local governing bodies calling for consideration of the im-provement are confirmed, and the Board passes a reso-lution determining the proj-ect to be practical, the Board will publish the same once in the Kalamazoo Gazetta. The owner or any persons having an interest in the real prop-erty affected may file an ac-tion in a court of competent jurisdiction within thirty (30) days of the resolution, otherwise the sufficiency of the motions by the govern-ing bodies calling for the im-provement and the determi-nation of practicability shall not be subject to attack.

not be subject to attack. The Long Lake Board will pro-vide necessary, reasonable auxiliary akis and services, such as signers for the hear-ing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being considered at the meeting. to individuals with disabilities to the Long Lake Board, Indi-viduals with disabilities re-guiring auxiliary akis or serv-ices should contact the Long Lake Board in writing or by calling the Board representa-tives as set forth below. All Interested Association of the contact the Long Lake Board in writing or by calling the Board representa-tives as set forth below. All Interested Association of the contact the Long Lake Board in writing or by calling the Board representa-tives as set forth below. All Interested Association of the contact the Long Lake Board in writing or by calling the Board representa-tives as set forth below. All Interested Association of the contact the Long Lake Board in writing or by calling the Board representa-tives as set forth below.

All interested persons are hereby notified to be present at the aforesaid time and place for the purpose of con-sidering the foregoing and any objections or comments thereto.

JOHN SPEETER, CHAIRMAN LONG LAKE BOARD 8470 GREENFIELD SHORES DRIVE SCOTTS, MICHIGAN 49088 (269) 327-7145





### To place an ad in The Kal

### BUILDING REMODELING

REMODELING - Ali aspects, additions, garages, decks & maintenance. Licensed & in-sured. 20 yrs exp. Tri Square Builders 269-664-5272

### **CEMENT WORK**

CONCRETE FLATWORK CONCRETE FLATWORK new/remove& replace drive-ways, sidewalks, patios, staps, porches regular & dec-orative. Licensed, insured Sr. Disc., Free Est. Central Concrete. 269-720-6099

Weaver Concrete, Masonry & Landscaping - All con-crete work, brick, block, stone, Chimneys, We repair feaky basements. Sr. disc. Free Est. (269) 655-4158



COLF LESSONS by LPGA Class A Teaching Professio-nal, Private/Group, Individu-al or series. Year around, 530/lesson or \$130/series of 4. Group of 3 or more, 540/hr for group. Call Sharon, 207-207-9512 for appointments.



Hauchuman Specials RETIRED ROOFER with 4 years experience will do roo repairs; lawn mowing; dec repair/washing/staining other odd jobs. 269-372-2582 RETIRED ROOFER

HANDYMAN SERVICES

### HAULING

GENERAL HAULING Removal of brush, trash, appliances, etc. Free est. Sr. discount. 7 days/week. Call Yony 269-344-0946.

•HAULING\* Just About Anything!! No chemicals. Call Craig for free estimate 269/388-2246, 207-6922

JUNK-REMOVAL SERVICE Local College Students Haul Away Your Junk! 249-345-4285

www.StudentHaulers.com

### HOME IMPROVEMENT

Budget Appliance Service Quality Service at Affordable Pricesi Call us at (269) 685-6902 Installation services available

Garage Door & Opener Re-petr and Replacment. Free estimates & senior discount. Fully Insured 1330 off spring repair. Call (616) 916 4362

HANDLEY'S HARDWOOD LUMBER Trailer decking, fence bds, klin dried lumber, five edge slabs, fireplace mantels. 8342 W. Main, Kal. 249-375-3300

Gutters Spring Clean Up pruning bed maintenance mulching. Gardens By Design 269-501-6322





### STATE OF MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES LANSING

NICK LYON DIRECTOR

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE DRAFT

RICK SNYDER

GOVERNOR

CONTACT: Jennifer Eisner (517) 241-2112

### Public comment requested on Michigan's Section 1115 Brain Injury Waiver proposal

LANSING, Mich. – The Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) is requesting public comment on its application to provide services and support to people with qualifying brain injuries.

The State of Michigan is seeking approval from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) for a 1115 Demonstration Waiver to provide necessary services and supports to persons suffering from qualifying brain injuries who, without receiving these services, would be served in an institutional setting.

The Brain Injury Waiver provides critical brain injury-specific rehabilitation and support in the post-acute injury period with the goal of assisting the participant in becoming capable of living in the most independent setting. The proposed effective date of this waiver is Jan. 1, 2017.

MDHHS invites the public to read and comment on the waiver summary and application by visiting <u>http://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/0,5885,7-339-71547\_2943-114948--,00.html.</u>

Comments or requests for copies of the waiver application may be submitted in writing to: Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, Medical Services Administration, Medicaid Policy Section, P.O. Box 30479, Lansing, Michigan 48909-7979. All comments must be received by Aug. 26, 2016.

Written comments may be reviewed by the public at Capitol Commons Center, 400 S. Pine St., Capitol Commons Center, 7<sup>th</sup> Floor, Lansing, Michigan. The title "1115 – Brain Injury Waiver" must be included on all requests for copies and comments.

###

### Michigan's Brain Injury Waiver An 1115 Demonstration Program

Presented by Elizabeth Gallagher Manager, HCBS Section, MSA, MDHHS Public Hearing Webinar August 10, 2016, 10:00 a.m.

### Part 1

Program Overview

- **Provider Qualifications**
- Participant Eligibility and Enrollment

### Program Description

- Planned Start Date: January 1, 2017
- \$2.5 Million budget for the first year
- May serve up to 100 individuals per year
- Focus on specialized rehabilitation and supportive services
- After acute care
- Setting Options:
- Transitional residential
- Outpatient
- Home and community based
- Anticipate a 5 year waiver approval, ending 12/31/2021

## Provider Qualifications

- All providers will have specialization in treating individuals with brain injuries
- Criminal History Screenings required for all providers
- Providers must be accredited:
- Commission on Accreditation of Rehab Facilities (CARF)
- Comprehensive Outpatient Rehab Facilities (CORF)
- American Association for Accreditation of Ambulatory Surgery Facilities (AAASF) for Rehab Agency or Outpatient PT program
- Certified Brain Injury Specialists (CBIS)

### Participant Eligibility

- Age 21 and over
- Medicaid eligible
- Expanded eligibility rules
- Income up to 300% of SSI
- Spousal impoverishment rules apply
- No cost sharing requirements
- 18 months or less since brain injury
- Has a qualifying brain injury
- Will benefit from program services
- Up to 24 months of program services

## Prioritization for Enrollment

- services through EPSDT and need to transition to Individuals approaching their 21<sup>st</sup> birthday who are currently receiving brain injury specific the BIW.
- priority over individuals with an acquired brain Individuals with traumatic brain injuries are a injury.
- injury date receive priority over individuals with Applicants approaching the 18 months post a more recent injury.

## Participant Enrollment Process

- The individual or provider will submit an enrollment package to MDHHS
- MDHHS will review the enrollment package for completeness and determine program eligibility
- Individuals will be notified in writing by MDHHS of program enrollment approval. Notification may be electronic. Ĺ
- Providers applying on behalf of the individual will be notified of approved enrollments
- The individual will select from qualified providers according to their preferences and service needs

# Part 1 Questions or Comments

### Part 2

Hypotheses

- Program Services
- Service Delivery Model

<ul> <li>successful rehabilitation outcomes.</li> <li>75% of participants who complete rehab services will demonstrate improvement in functional ability</li> <li>75% of participants who complete rehab services will demonstrate improvement in functional ability</li> <li>75% of participants will achieve at least 75% of their individual rehab goals</li> <li>75% of participants will achieve at least 75% of their individual rehab goals</li> <li>75% of participants will achieve at least 75% of their individual rehab goals</li> <li>75% of participants will achieve at least 75% of their individual rehab goals</li> <li>75% of participants will achieve at least 75% of their individual rehab goals</li> <li>75% of participants will report increase independence</li> <li>9% pothesis 3: Total annual Medicaid costs for BIW participants will be less than the costs of services had the participants received institutional care.</li> <li>9% pothesis 4: BIW participants will report increases in quality of life during their englinent in the BIW.</li> <li>9% pothesis 4: BIW participants will report increases in quality of life during their englinent in the BIW.</li> </ul>
--

## Brain Injury Waiver Services

- Targeted BIW Case Management
- Environmental Accessibility Adaptations (Home Modifications)
- Community Transition Services
- Supported Employment
- Brain Injury Day Treatment Program
- Brain Injury Transitional Residential Rehabilitation Services
- Brain Injury Home and Community-based Rehabilitation Services
- Specialized Medical Equipment, Supplies, and Assistive Devices
- Prevocational Services
- Counseling

Services <u>NOT</u> Covered in Brain Injury Waiver	<ul> <li>Medicaid state plan services (doctor visits, testing, hospitalizations, nursing facility admissions, etc.)</li> <li>Room and Board (rent, mortgage payments, meals, food)</li> <li>Services covered by other programs, insurers, or payers</li> <li>Personal Care (assistance with bathing, dressing, eating, etc.), unless it is a component of a Brain Injury Waiver service, such as a Day Treatment Program</li> <li>Transportation, unless it is a component of a Brain Injury Waiver service, such as a Day Treatment Program</li> <li>Transportation, unless it is a component of a Brain Injury Waiver service, such as a Day Treatment Program</li> <li>Transportation, unless it is a component of a Brain Injury Waiver service, for the program</li> <li>Transportation, unless it is a component of a Brain Injury Waiver service, for a Brain Injury Home and Community-based Rehabilitation services (i.e. teaching how to use public transportation)</li> <li>This is not an all-inclusive listing and is subject to change)</li> </ul>
13	

# Part 2 Questions or Comments

### Part 3

Budget Neutrality

- Provider Enrollment and Reimbursement
- Next Steps

## Finance and Budget Neutrality

- The initial budget for the Brain Injury Waiver is \$2.5 Million
- MDHHS assumed that individuals would be served in a nursing facility (70%), nursing facility ventilator unit (10%) or a Hospital (20%)if the Brain Injury Waiver were not available to demonstrate budget neutrality
- The cost of the nursing facility and hospital admissions for individuals would be about \$13.3 million in the first year
- admissions to the nursing facility and hospital, MDHHS projects a savings of Once individuals begin enrolling in the BIW, and therefore avoiding \$3.4 million on this population in the first year.
- Program savings over the course of the 5-year demonstration are estimated at \$23.4 Million

# Provider Enrollment & Reimbursement

- Automated Medicaid Payment System) as Medicaid providers with a Brain Providers will be required to enroll in CHAMPS (the Community Health Injury Specialization
- All services will be prior authorized based upon the individual's personcentered plan
- Providers will submit claims to CHAMPS for processing using approved service codes and rates
- Providers will be reimbursed on a fee for service basis

### Next Steps

- Revise draft based upon comments
- Summarize all comments, questions, and answers obtained through public hearings and comment period
- Include on Website
- Include in Brain Injury Waiver Application
- Obtain Governor Signature on Final application
- Submit Application to Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
- Work with Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services for approval
- Complete required Information Technology changes
- Start program January 1, 2017

### Questions or Comments Parts 3

# Final Questions or Comments

Thank you for participating today!

## Michigan's Brain Injury Waiver An 1115 Demonstration Program

Presented by Elizabeth Gallagher Manager, HCBS Section, MSA, MDHHS Public Hearing August 17, 2016, 1:00 p.m.

### Part 1

Program Overview

- **Provider Qualifications**
- Participant Eligibility and Enrollment

## Program Description

- Planned Start Date: January 1, 2017
- \$2.5 Million budget for the first year
- May serve up to 100 individuals per year
- Focus on specialized rehabilitation and supportive services
- After acute care
- Setting Options:
- Transitional residential
- Outpatient
- Home and community based
- Anticipate a 5 year waiver approval, ending 12/31/2021

## Provider Qualifications

- All providers will have specialization in treating individuals with brain injuries
- Criminal History Screenings required for all providers
- Providers must be accredited:
- Commission on Accreditation of Rehab Facilities (CARF)
- Comprehensive Outpatient Rehab Facilities (CORF)
- American Association for Accreditation of Ambulatory Surgery Facilities (AAASF) for Rehab Agency or Outpatient PT program
- Certified Brain Injury Specialists (CBIS)

## Participant Eligibility

- Age 21 and over
- Medicaid eligible
- Expanded eligibility rules
- Income up to 300% of SSI
- Spousal impoverishment rules apply
- No cost sharing requirements
- 18 months or less since brain injury
- Has a qualifying brain injury
- Will benefit from program services
- Up to 24 months of program services

## Prioritization for Enrollment

- services through EPSDT and need to transition to Individuals approaching their 21<sup>st</sup> birthday who are currently receiving brain injury specific the BIW.
- priority over individuals with an acquired brain Individuals with traumatic brain injuries are a injury.
- injury date receive priority over individuals with Applicants approaching the 18 months post a more recent injury.

# Participant Enrollment Process

- The individual or provider will submit an enrollment package to MDHHS
- MDHHS will review the enrollment package for completeness and determine program eligibility
- Individuals will be notified in writing by MDHHS of program enrollment approval. Notification may be electronic. Ĺ
- Providers applying on behalf of the individual will be notified of approved enrollments
- The individual will select from qualified providers according to their preferences and service needs

### Part 2

Hypotheses

- Program Services
- Service Delivery Model

Hypotheses	<ul> <li>Hypothesis 1: Individuals participating in the BIW program will demonstrate successful rehabilitation outcomes.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>75% of participants who complete rehab services will demonstrate improvement in functional ability</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>75% of participants will achieve at least 75% of their individual rehab goals</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Hypothesis 2: BIW participants will demonstrate increased independence and community participation.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>75% of participants will report increase independence</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>75% of participants will report increased community participation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Hypothesis 3: Total annual Medicaid costs for BIW participants will be less than the costs of services had the participants received institutional care.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Aggregate annual Medicaid costs will be less than without the waiver</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Hypothesis 4: BIW participants will report increases in quality of life during their enrollment in the BIW.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Participants will report increases in quality of life during enrollment in the Brain Injury Waiver</li> </ul>	

# Brain Injury Waiver Services

- Targeted BIW Case Management
- Environmental Accessibility Adaptations (Home Modifications)
- Community Transition Services
- Supported Employment
- Brain Injury Day Treatment Program
- Brain Injury Transitional Residential Rehabilitation Services
- Brain Injury Home and Community-based Rehabilitation Services
- Specialized Medical Equipment, Supplies, and Assistive Devices
- Prevocational Services
- Counseling

Services <u>NOT</u> Covered in Brain Injury Waiver	<ul> <li>Medicaid state plan services (doctor visits, testing, hospitalizations, nursing facility admissions, etc.)</li> <li>Room and Board (rent, mortgage payments, meals, food)</li> <li>Room and Board (rent, mortgage payments, meals, food)</li> <li>Services covered by other programs, insurers, or payers</li> <li>Tersonal Care (assistance with bathing, dressing, eating, etc.), unless it is a component of a Brain Injury Waiver service, such as a Day Treatment Program</li> <li>Transportation, unless it is a component of a Brain Injury Waiver service, such as a law Treatment Program</li> <li>Transportation, unless it is a component of a Brain Injury Waiver service, such as Brain Injury Home and Community-based Rehabilitation services (i.e. teaching how to use public transportation)</li> <li>This is not an all-inclusive listing and is subject to change)</li> </ul>
12	

### Part 3

Budget Neutrality

- Provider Enrollment and Reimbursement
- Next Steps

# Finance and Budget Neutrality

- The initial budget for the Brain Injury Waiver is \$2.5 Million
- MDHHS assumed that individuals would be served in a nursing facility (70%), nursing facility ventilator unit (10%) or a Hospital (20%)if the Brain Injury Waiver were not available to demonstrate budget neutrality
- The cost of the nursing facility and hospital admissions for individuals would be about \$13.3 million in the first year
- admissions to the nursing facility and hospital, MDHHS projects a savings of Once individuals begin enrolling in the BIW, and therefore avoiding \$3.4 million on this population in the first year.
- Program savings over the course of the 5-year demonstration are estimated at \$23.4 Million

# Provider Enrollment & Reimbursement

- Automated Medicaid Payment System) as Medicaid providers with a Brain Providers will be required to enroll in CHAMPS (the Community Health Injury Specialization
- All services will be prior authorized based upon the individual's personcentered plan
- Providers will submit claims to CHAMPS for processing using approved service codes and rates
- Providers will be reimbursed on a fee for service basis

### Next Steps

- Revise draft based upon comments
- Summarize all comments, questions, and answers obtained through public hearings and comment period
- Include on Website
- Include in Brain Injury Waiver Application
- Obtain Governor Signature on Final application
- Submit Application to Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
- Work with Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services for approval
- Complete required Information Technology changes
- Start program January 1, 2017

nformation and Resources	<ul> <li>Email additional Question or Comments to <u>MSAPolicy@Michigan.gov</u></li> </ul>	Include "Section 1115 Brain Injury Waiver" in subject line	<ul><li>All comments due by August 26, 2016</li></ul>	<ul> <li>View waiver application and other information at the following website:</li> </ul>	www.Michigan.gov/MDHHS	<ul> <li>Click on "Assistance Programs"</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Click on "Health Care Coverage"</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Click on "Michigan Brain Injury (BI) Waiver"</li> </ul>	
--------------------------	--	--	---	---	------------------------	--	---	--	--



STATE OF MICHIGAN

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

LANSING

DIRECTOR

GOVERNOR

November 9, 2016

- **TO:** Interested Party
- **RE:** Consultation Summary Michigan's Section 1115 Brain Injury Waiver

Thank you for your comment(s) to the Medical Services Administration (MSA) relative to Michigan's Section 1115 Brain Injury Waiver. Your comment(s) has been considered in the preparation of the final publication, a copy of which is attached for your information.

Responses to specific comments are addressed below.

### General Comments

- **Comment:** The Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) received many letters of support for the proposed Brain Injury Waiver (BIW). Many comments came from professionals who provide services to individuals with brain injuries including: therapists, nurses, state employees, advocates, and family members. Commenters included reasons for their support, which are summarized below:
  - The BIW is a necessary opportunity for people living with traumatic brain injury to maintain independence through home and community based rehabilitation.
  - The waiver will allow more chances for in-home care, reducing housing instability and cost to taxpayers.
  - Institutional living is more expensive than maintaining one's own housing with additional supports like visiting nurses, and caregivers who can assist a person with activities of daily living. Quite often a person will do fine when there is some assistance with shopping, housekeeping and bill paying.
  - Person centered care is an important feature of the program.
  - Institutional living can also be problematic for those with outbursts due to their condition, as there are far more "triggers" in group style housing.

- Allowing people to maintain their independent living status, with social and medical supports will enhance quality of life as well as reduce tax payer cost in the long run.
- Approval of this waiver will ensure Michigan citizens with a brain injury can lead fuller lives.
- Brain injury patients can be treated with quality care in their own homes where they will be more comfortable, not separated from their families and more able to participate in normal brain-stimulating activities, at less expense to taxpayers than if they are institutionalized.
- MDHHS must take precaution to assure the services provided through this waiver are of high quality.
- There are very few choices for those who need residential care and treatment which puts a huge burden on families.
- There are few residential group homes that specialize in serving individuals with brain injuries. That means that some individuals will end up in adult group homes and may need more care than these group homes provide.
- This waiver will allow individuals to receive the post-acute therapeutic services that will help improve their quality of life instead of languishing at home or in a nursing home that is ill-equipped to deal with their complex needs.
- Specialized services by competent caregivers provide better outcomes in the post-acute injury period for individuals with brain injuries and allows those individuals to realize their highest level of independence.
- One commenter indicated they frequently receive calls from individuals who are unable to find the support and services needed by individuals with brain injuries. This program will fill a gap in the current system.
- This is a step in the right direction to correct a long term failure of our Medicaid system.
- An advocacy group states the proposal follows many of the principles espoused by the state's Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI) Council and includes elements from the current TBI program.
- **Response**: MDHHS appreciates this support and looks forward to implementing this program for the reasons identified above.
- **Comment:** One commenter supports the BIW, but believes it is focused only on postacute phase of recovery and does not encompass the full range of therapeutic services. They believe the program misses the opportunity to have a more significant impact on outcomes, quality of life, and overall costs. This commenter would like to help the State of Michigan craft a waiver that can have a greater impact on outcomes and costs.

- **Response:** MDHHS appreciates your support. Exclusions regarding the type of services provided in the BIW have been made due to the limited budget and scope of this small demonstration program. MDHHS will take the commenter's offer of assistance into consideration when the opportunity to develop a more comprehensive program is available.
- **Comment:** One commenter expressed support for the BIW, but asked why long-term supports and services and self-direction opportunities are excluded from this program?
- **Response:** The BIW will focus on specialty services related to brain injuries. The services covered in the BIW are considered long-term supports and services. The BIW will focus on person-centered planning for these services. Other services (such as personal care) and opportunities for self-determination are provided by other programs which the BIW participants may utilize in conjunction with the BIW.
- **Comment:** One commenter requested a copy of the webinar slides.
- **Response:** The webinar slides are posted on the MDHHS website at <u>www.michigan.gov/MDHHS</u> >> Assistance Programs >> Health Care Coverage >> Michigan Brain Injury Waiver.

### Section I – Program Description

- **Comment:** One commenter requested wording changes under the "appropriate accreditation" section. Specifically, they requested to change "inpatient" to "Residential Rehabilitation Program" and "outpatient services" to "Outpatient Medical Rehabilitation Program" to mirror Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities (CARF) language. Additionally, the commenter requested consideration of adding to each of those items listed above the phrase "that meet the Brain Injury Specialty Program designation."
- **Response:** MDHHS considered the suggested changes but has not incorporated them in the BIW application. MDHHS did not want to be overly restrictive on provider qualifications.
- **Comment:** Many comments were received regarding the availability of brain injury services to individuals under the age of 21. Concerns were raised about the availability and comparability of brain injury services for individuals seeking Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment (EPSDT). Two commenters requested that MDHHS consider BIW eligibility for persons younger than 21, particularly for the transitional residential

rehabilitation services. These commenters were concerned about individuals aged 16-21 who tend to have higher injury rates. The commenter would not want this population overlooked.

- **Response:** MDHHS is reviewing the services available to Medicaid beneficiaries under age 21 and working with the Medicaid Health Plans to assure that brain injury services are available to these individuals as needed. MDHHS staff will continue to collaborate to educate Medicaid providers, including Medicaid Health Plans, about the BIW.
- **Comment:** In early versions there were 100 "slots" that could be filled. It now appears that a total of 100 people can be served does that mean it is limited to a total of 100? I would like clarification regarding prioritization and the 100 slots. Does prioritization only come up on slot 101?
- **Response:** The BIW is a small demonstration program with a limited budget. MDHHS limited the enrollment to 100 individuals over the course of a year. That number may change as MDHHS gains more experience with serving this population. If additional funding is allocated to the BIW or if MDHHS is able to serve more individuals within the budget, MDHHS may request an amendment to the demonstration to serve more individuals. MDHHS included a prioritization for enrollment in anticipation of receiving more requests for enrollment than may be supported by the allocated budget.
- **Comment:** One commenter requested a decision rubric defining how MDHHS determines TBI versus a more general Acquired Brain Injury (ABI) determination, since the prior was noted as a priority over the latter?
- **Response:** Page 3 of the application discusses the difference between a traumatic and an acquired brain injury.
- **Comment:** Several comments were received regarding individuals with anoxic brain injuries, how these individuals are prioritized, and whether or not they are excluded from enrolling in the BIW. One commenter prefers these not to be prioritized and not excluded. Another commenter prefers the prioritization is kept and the exclusion is removed. That commenter likes prioritization better than exclusion, especially for individuals who have had a stroke because those groups benefit greatly from rehabilitation.
- **Response:** MDHHS included the prioritization for individuals with traumatic brain injuries over those with anoxic brain injuries because this is a small demonstration program with a very limited budget. The prioritization description in Section I of the BIW application defines traumatic and acquired brain injuries. Section II of the BIW application identifies

individuals with certain diagnoses, diseases, and conditions that would be excluded from enrolling in the BIW. The intent of the exclusions was not to eliminate all individuals with acquired brain injuries, but only those who would have other resources available to them to address any functional deficits related to the injury. MDHHS reviewed the listing of excluded diagnoses, diseases, and conditions and made revisions in the final version of the BIW application.

- **Comment:** If 100 people are not served within the year, can the budget accrue/carry over to the next year, so that federal match is not left on the table?
- **Response:** No, budget allocations are authorized annually.
- Comment: One commenter expressed concern about the hypotheses stating 75% of the participants will achieve at least 75% of their individual rehabilitation goals. The commenter states that recovery is slow. Achieving at least 75% of individual rehabilitation goals is dependent on how the goals are written and how they are measured. The commenter treats individuals with behavioral health, physical, social, and community access needs. An individual may have tremendous gains in three or four areas of importance for their quality of life, but may continue to struggle in five or six other areas and only achieve 50% of the rehabilitation goals, but have great outcome. The commenter continued that even if individuals don't meet 75% of their goals, meeting some goals or even 70% would be great for many patients and families. The commenter wondered about what this does to the hypothesis at the end of five years if MDHHS does not meet the stated hypothesis. Does the State revise the benchmark or do they fail at the end of the demonstration? Another commenter agreed, stating her daughter would never be able to achieve 75% of the goal, but stated that would depend on how the goal was set. Her daughter has severe TBI and thinks the 75% is too high.
- **Response:** MDHHS will be working with case managers and other providers to determine how to assist individuals with setting their goals. Many individuals may have short term and long term goals. The goals measured for the BIW would be those related to the services received in the BIW. Additionally, MDHHS will be working with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and independent evaluators to determine the best way to measure whether or not the hypotheses were met. All analysis will include an evaluation of both the hypotheses and the program data. When MDHHS evaluates the outcomes achieved, we will also evaluate whether or not the hypotheses were realistic. There are four hypotheses to evaluate over the course of this demonstration. If MDHHS fails on all four of them, then we would need to reevaluate how the

program was implemented and what we could do to improve it. However, if for example, 73% of the participants achieved 70% of their goals, then the conclusion may be that MDHHS set the bar too high to start. If MDHHS does not meet the goal of 75% of the participants achieving 75% of their goals, but 99% of the participants have a better quality of life after going through the program, there is still an indication that the program is effective despite not meeting our goals.

- **Comment:** Is there a report or summary at the end of five years?
- **Response:** Yes, a report is required at the end of the Demonstration.
- **Comment:** Regarding the hypothesis and that 24 other states have a waiver, do the other states have the same assumptions or does the state know? Could the State of Michigan reach out to other states and see what the other states are doing?
- **Response:** It depends on what type of waiver each state has. MDHHS decided to implement a §1115 waiver, which requires a hypotheses on what is being demonstrated. MDHHS looked at other States' waivers and discussed the different aspects of their waivers and their hypotheses during the development of this waiver. Staff found other states' hypotheses to be similar.
- **Comment:** The waiver states the individuals are eligible for 24 months of service. Do the providers have autonomy within that 24 months to set rehab goals in those timeframes? Do providers set the timeframe of a goal to achieve in 6-8 months, will they have the opportunity to provide that treatment for 6-8 months, or is there a possibility the person will become ineligible based on some determination?
- **Response**: The rehabilitation goals must be person-centered. This means the provider would not act autonomously in setting the rehabilitation goals, but work with the individual to set those goals. MDHHS would expect that many individuals will have a combination of short and long term goals. The goals set by each individual do not need to be confined to rehabilitation goals. There is always the possibility that somebody would lose their Medicaid eligibility. If an individual is not eligible for Medicaid, he/she is not eligible for the BIW.
- **Comment:** Regarding hypothesis number 3, if we felt it needs to be less to be approved or could we say cost would be neutral on an annual basis. Since the hypothesis is on an annual basis and not over a longer period of time, one of the stakeholders would like MDHHS to revise the waiver to

state that the total Medicaid costs will be no more than the costs of services had the participants received institutional care. The stakeholder would like MDHHS to add that the life-time Medicaid costs will be decreased. The way hypothesis number 3 is written, I am concerned that it is written as 100 people received service last year and incurred less cost than had they received institutional care. It is not saying that by implementing this program society will be better over the course of time. It says last year they incurred less than if they had been in a nursing home or institutional care. Depending on what the goal of the program is, I think the statement should be reflective. Can we change hypotheses number 3 to say it will be neutral or less than cost or equal to or less than?

**Response:** MDHHS has to demonstrate budget neutrality, which is not the same as savings. Hypothesis number 3 is intended to mean that BIW services will not cost any more than services received in an institution. MDHHS took these comments and suggestions into consideration and re-phrased hypothesis number 3. Additionally, MDHHS revised the evaluation language for this hypothesis to include not only current BIW participants, but also previous BIW participants in the evaluation.

### Section II – Demonstration Eligibility

- **Comment:** One commenter inquired about dollar amount for 300% above the poverty level and whether this amount was for an individual. The commenter also asked if a patient would be eligible with income up to 300% of Supplemental Security Income (SSI).
- **Response**: Currently, the SSI rate for an individual is \$733. 300% of that amount equates to \$2,199 gross income per month. Yes, individuals with incomes up to 300% of SSI or \$2,199 per month could be eligible for the BIW.
- **Comment:** If the patient worked and their income was above the guidelines and then had an accident, how long would it take to become eligible?
- **Response**: There are many factors to consider regarding Medicaid eligibility. Each person's situation is unique. Most categories of Medicaid eligibility include income and asset tests. The individual would need to have an income within the income limit of 300% of SSI, and also meet any asset tests (usually countable assets of no more than \$2,000) to become Medicaid eligible. Eligibility determinations normally take about 45 days from the date the application is submitted to the MDHHS Local Office.

- **Comment:** One commenter questioned whether the reason for denial into the program would be made public.
- **Response**: MDHHS revised the waiver application and included reasons for denying enrollment in the BIW in Section II of the application.
- **Comment:** One commenter questions what rises to the level of "abuse of legal substances" that disqualifies someone. The commenter suggests removal from the criteria since it is somewhat subjective and self-medication can be a coping mechanism for those not getting proper treatment. If substance use is being used as a disqualifier than it should be defined so all stakeholders have a clear understanding of the disqualification. The commenter suggested a revised statement such as, "The individual does not have current substance misuse issues that rise to a level that creates a barrier to participating in and benefitting from an intensive rehabilitation for TBI."
- **Response:** MDHHS made revisions to the admission requirements.
- Comment: One commenter asked whether the admission criteria require individuals to have a neuro-psych evaluation. The BIW states the evaluation would be a comprehensive evaluation. Most transitional programs have a neuro psychologist as part of the program and once someone is there, it becomes guite easy to do some of the testing. The commenters expressed concerns that patients cannot do eight hours of testing for a comprehensive evaluation and the neuro psychologist may have to make several trips to the hospital to finish the evaluation. The commenters expressed that the neuro psychologists are unhappy with the Medicaid reimbursement rate. The commenters questioned the necessity of the evaluation to enroll in the BIW and indicated that access to gualified professionals who can complete a neuro-psychological evaluation is a barrier to access. The commenters suggested requiring only a consultation from a qualified physician who can determine if the individual is likely to benefit from specialized treatment upon application. They further suggested that any further questions regarding the impact of the brain injury can be answered through the provider's evaluation process once the treatment has begun.
- **Response:** MDHHS appreciates your comments and has evaluated these concerns and revised this requirement in the BIW application.

### Section III – Demonstration Benefits and Cost Sharing Requirements

- **Comment:** Several commenters expressed concern about the exclusion of individuals receiving pregnancy related services. Concern was expressed regarding discrimination based on gender and that pregnancy is a discrimination based on gender. The stakeholders would like the State to reconsider excluding individuals receiving pregnancy related services. Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act addresses discrimination based on individuals' sex, including pregnancy. The commenter stated that for these reasons, excluding pregnant women from the waiver may impede Federal approval. Additionally, the commenter advocates that rehabilitation is equally beneficial for women who are pregnant and those who are not pregnant, and waiting for the full term of the pregnancy to engage in rehabilitation is not beneficial and in fact could be hurtful to both the rehabilitation potential and child's health.
- **Response:** MDHHS appreciates these comments and has removed this exclusion from the final version of the BIW.
- **Comment:** One commenter asked if someone had a knee replacement and is seeing a physical therapist but is also eligible for the BIW, would that person have to disenroll from the knee physical therapy and re-enroll with BIW physical therapy?
- **Response:** Yes. Individuals enrolled in the BIW are expected to receive all therapy services through the BIW.

### Section IV – Delivery System and Payment Rates for Services

- **Comment:** One commenter asked about the number of MI Choice waiver agencies. Another commenter wondered if six of our individuals come through the organization, but all six come from different waiver agencies, we would be in a process of reaching out to the agency negotiating the contract for their personal care services before they come in. The commenter also wondered if this process was realistic.
- **Response**: There are 20 MI Choice waiver agencies throughout Michigan. At most, there are two MI Choice waiver agencies in each service area. Therefore, the most number of waiver agencies with which a transitional residential rehabilitation provider may need to negotiate a contract for the provision of non-BIW services would be two.

- **Comment:** One commenter asked, if they would still have only two contracts per service area at the most, even if the person came from the Upper Peninsula and choose services in the Lower Peninsula. Another commenter asked if each waiver agency agreement was personalized.
- **Response:** If the person is receiving transitional residential services, you will work with the local MI Choice waiver agency. Waiver agencies renew contracts on a yearly basis. You are able to contract with the agencies whether or not you had a participant. It is not negotiated for each participant. Contracts include a reimbursement rate and what each entity is expected to provide via the contract. As a provider within the waiver agency's provider network, you would receive a service authorization that is unique to each individual.

After the BIW is submitted, MDHHS will have some provider meetings to help providers with issues, such as how to enroll in the Community Health Automated Medicaid Processing System (CHAMPS) and how to work with other entities, and we would bring waiver agencies to the table so that you can all hear the same thing at the same time. MDHHS does plan on helping the providers work through that process during the fall and winter, so everyone is prepared to implement on January 1, 2017.

### Section V – Implementation of Demonstration

- **Comment:** One commenter asked how individuals will find out about this waiver and whether it is just a matter of knowing the BIW exists.
- **Response:** MDHHS continues working with providers from the current TBI program to assure they know about the BIW. Once the BIW is approved, there will be a press release, a description of the BIW on the MDHHS website, and the Beneficiary Helpline will be given information on BIW to relay to potential participants. Additionally, MDHHS will alert the Local Offices about the program so that individuals who may benefit from the program will be referred to the BIW.

### Section VI – Demonstration Financing and Budget Neutrality

- **Comment:** One commenter asked about the pressures are there to show "cost savings" on the cost neutrality sheet.
- **Response:** MDHHS only needs to demonstrate budget neutrality with this demonstration and does not have to show cost savings. MDHHS calculated the budget neutrality using tools provided by CMS. This

analysis showed that the services through the BIW will be less than the other settings.

### Section VII – List of Proposed Waivers and Expenditure Authorities

MDHHS did not receive comments on this section of the BIW application.

### Attachment A: Long-Term Services and Supports Form

- **Comment:** One commenter would like MDHHS to consider the use of "participant" and "participant's authorized representative" throughout Attachment A. There are references where only the participant is granted rights, but they may not be their own guardian or even cognitively able to make some the decisions that they are granted in this document.
- **Response:** MDHHS thanks the commenter for this suggestion and has made the revisions.
- **Comment:** One commenter raised concerns regarding the requirement to develop the initial plan of service "within seven days of program approval." This commenter believes the time frame may be unreasonable, particularly for those coming from a hospital setting where program approval may come a few days before admission and the completion of initial evaluations. The commenter suggested revising this requirement to "within seven days of receiving program services".
- **Response:** MDHHS thanks the commenter for this suggestion. MDHHS explains the difference between an interim and initial plan of services in Attachment A of the BIW application. In the situation described above, an interim plan of service would be used to start BIW services and the initial plan of service would be finalized within 30 days.
- **Comment:** One commenter asked if personal care services are covered under the BIW.
- **Response:** The BIW does not cover personal care services. BIW participants will be able to receive these, or similar services through another Medicaid-funded plan or program, such as the Healthy Michigan Plan, MI Choice waiver, MI Health Link and the Home Help program while enrolled in the BIW.
- **Comment:** One commenter asked if the personal care services the provider currently provides through the organization can be negotiated with the Community Mental Health (CMH) the person is currently part of.

- **Response:** Individuals who qualify for services through their local CMH agency could continue to receive those services as long as the services were not duplicative.
- **Comment:** One commenter asked for clarification regarding whether the Mayo-Portland Adaptability Inventory (MPAI) is an assessment or rating and if the MPAI applies to all participants even if they are only receiving case management.
- **Response**: MPAI is a rating. MDHHS expects every participant to complete a MPAI even if he/she is only receiving case management.
- **Comment:** Several commenters questioned the billing of services. They wanted to know if a provider can bill for different services on the same day. The commenters also questioned how to bill for services if services are less than five hours.
- **Response**: Based on the robust discussion around transitional residential rehabilitation services during the public hearings, MDHHS has revised how this service will be billed. It is now meant to be an all-inclusive BIW service. Individuals using the transitional residential rehabilitation service will only be eligible for this service and specialized medical equipment and supplies. Individuals who are not using the transitional residential rehabilitation service per day. The outpatient and home and community-based service providers may bill for different services rendered on the same day.

### Attachment B – Long Term Supports and Services Benefit Specifications and Provider Qualifications

- **Comment:** Attachment B of the BIW application states duration of benefit/service, is limited to five days per week, but does it need to specify only weekdays or could someone participate on Saturday/Sunday instead if that is more accessible/convenient for them or their family?
- **Response:** The limitation is not based on days of the week, but is based upon the number of days individuals typically receive services. It is typical that individuals would need at least two days off of therapy services per week. MDHHS does not specify which days of the week are non-therapy days.
- **Comment:** Attachment B of the BIW application states: "Environmental accessibility adaptations needed...will not be considered completed until the individual returns to their home." Does this mean the contractor will not be paid until the person returns home? If so, consider that this will cause access

barriers to contractors who may not be willing to wait on payment of services. Typically a contractor expects some payment upfront and the remainder upon completion.

- **Response:** This limitation applies only to individuals who are currently receiving transition residential rehabilitation services. These individuals temporarily reside away from their homes. MDHHS understands that some environmental accessibility adaptations may need to be made to the home so that the individual can return to that home. However, this service is only billable once the individual returns home. Therefore, the service is considered complete upon the individual's return to the home. Typically Medicaid-covered services are not billable until they have been rendered in full.
- **Comment:** Attachment B of the BIW application states counseling is limited to eight units or two hours per week and includes psychology, social work, applied behavioral analysis, and registered nurse. For some individuals with TBI, particularly those with self-regulation and executive functioning issues requiring the Applied Behavioral Analysis services, the two hour limit per week will not meet the need.
- **Response:** MDHHS revised the transitional residential rehabilitation service to be allinclusive so that providers will have the flexibility to furnish services, including counseling, as needed based on the individual's needs and preferences. The counseling available through the BIW does not duplicate similar services that may be available through other programs. More intensive counseling or therapy is covered as a state-plan service.
- **Comment:** One commenter raised concerns about the Counseling service. In the 'Other' box, it states individuals who qualify for counseling in other systems (CMH, State Plan, and MI Choice Waiver) are excluded from counseling from the BIW. While this exclusion will be problematic for several of the service offerings in the BIW, it will be detrimental for the Residential Rehabilitation Services. The counseling services are a fully intertwined part of the residential program and the presence of the counseling staff within the program on a fulltime basis allows for a consistency of programing that is not available if the counseling professional is not an integrated part of the treatment team.
- **Response:** MDHHS has reconsidered how it defines the service package for individuals using transitional residential rehabilitation services. It was not the intent to exclude counseling services received during the transition residential rehabilitation from being billed through the brain injury waiver.

MDHHS has now defined transitional residential rehabilitation services as a package of services that is all-inclusive.

- **Comment:** One commenter raised concerns about Attachment B of the BIW application, Page 11 Prevocational Services Per the Provider Qualification, this service requires an Occupational Therapist or Vocational Therapist. Typically a vocationally trained staff would carry out these services under the direction of an Occupational Therapist or a Rehabilitation Counselor, but the licensed therapist themselves would not perform this service directly. The service is paid at \$12.50 per unit also indicating that it is not intended to be the fully licensed therapist performing the services.
- **Response:** The unit for this service is 15 minutes, which equates to \$60.00 per hour. MDHHS has made changes to this section of Attachment B in the BIW application to allow for trained staff working under a licensed professional to deliver this service.
- **Comment:** One commenter raised concerns about Attachment B of the BIW application, under supported employment, and would like job coach as a provider type. The commenter added that the reimbursement of this service is \$7.80 per unit which does not support the use of an occupational therapist or other licensed therapist for this service. Additionally, it would not be best practice to use only higher-level licensed staff for on-going supported employment.
- **Response:** MDHHS appreciates your comments and has made changes to this section of Attachment B of the BIW application.
- **Comment:** One commenter requested clarification of what is intended by "Neurobehavioral Rehabilitation Therapist" as this therapist type is not standard.
- **Response:** MDHHS includes any licensed therapist that specializes in neurobehavioral rehabilitation in this category. Neurobehavioral rehabilitation focuses on integrating neuro-psychiatric therapy with behavioral therapies for those with brain injuries.
- **Comment:** One commenter suggested the provider qualifications are currently indicating both licensure and certification for all provider types, even for types where there is not both certification and licensure available in the State of Michigan.
- **Response:** MDHHS has reviewed the providers for BIW services and made changes.

- **Comment:** For the Residential Rehabilitation, I understand that the expectation is a braiding of funding sources to create a total reimbursement package, not all of which is shown in the Waiver. This model will create an additional administrative burden on providers that has direct costs and which should be considered in the rates paid to providers. It would be helpful to see an example of how the program developers are expecting the braided funding to work, along with the typical amount of dollars that can be expected from each funder. It is difficult to comment on the adequacy of the funding without seeing the full picture. However I remain concerned that providers will not be able to serve the population under this braided funding due to the intensity of services and supervision required by this population.
- **Response:** MDHHS appreciates your comments and has taken them into consideration. The rates were developed by the MSA Actuarial Division, with Milliman assisting with review of the rates. Because of the many comments received regarding the transitional residential rehabilitation services, MDHHS has made significant changes in how this service is defined.
- **Comment:** What is day treatment and would it include personal assistance, such as hygiene?
- **Response:** Day treatment services are intended to reinforce therapeutic services on the days when the individual is not actually receiving therapy. An individual would go to the day treatment program to reinforce what they learned in therapy. A component of day treatment may be the provision of personal assistance during the individual's duration in the day treatment program.
- **Comment:** One commenter inquired about whether case management is external or through the provider or waiver agency.
- **Response**: The case management will be rendered by qualified providers. These providers may be employees of an organization, or an individual that meets the qualifications specified in the BIW application. BIW participants will be able to select a qualified provider of their choice.
- **Comment:** One commenter stated that he assumed personal care was not included because another program covered it and wanted to know what program covers it. Another commenter asked if individuals are able to select their own providers if they are enrolled in MI Health Link, Home Help, or MI Choice.

- **Response:** Programs that cover personal care include MI Health Link, Home Help, Healthy Michigan Plan, and MI Choice. Each of these programs offer choice of providers.
- **Comment:** One commenter wondered if when a provider is furnishing transitional residential rehabilitation services, getting paid for the therapies, and billing for the personal care services, would the provider select the caregivers.
- **Response:** BIW participants are able to choose from qualified providers. If the individual selects a transition residential rehabilitation setting, then the individual is selecting the providers available at that setting. Since the BIW does not cover personal care services, and all Medicaid programs that do cover personal care services (or an equivalent) require choice of provider, the individual would be able to choose their provider of personal care services.
- **Comment:** One commenter asked if the provider would bill SSI for room and board and bill personal care services under another waiver.
- **Response**: The BIW participant would be responsible for their room and board. The provider would bill the appropriate program for the participant's personal care services.
- **Comment:** One commenter indicated that typically transportation is covered in residential charges and it is being said that transportation is not covered. Is transportation included in the residential? If you want to transport somebody, should the provider bill the transportation other benefit that is available to brain injury participants? Is that the reason transportation is not included in the brain injury waiver?
- **Response:** Non-Emergency Medical Transportation (NEMT) will be covered for all brain injury waiver participants. Individuals who are concurrently enrolled in the MI Choice program or the MI Health Link program may have transportation covered through that program. If a BIW participant's goals include learning to manage local transportation, this could be included as a therapy service through the BIW.
- **Comment:** A commenter asked what services are included in the BIW if room and board, transportation, and personal care services are not included. Additionally the commenter inquired if there were a requirement that services offered elsewhere have to be carved out or if this was a choice made to meet the budget.

- **Response:** A list of services covered by the BIW is included in Section III of the BIW application. Each service is further defined in Attachment B of the BIW application. MDHHS placed limitations on the BIW services offered to maximize the impact of BIW-specific services given the limited budget. The BIW allows Michigan to offer unique services based on the BIW participants assessed needs that will enable the participants to maximize their independence and increase their quality of life after injury.
- **Comment:** A commenter expressed concern about the definition of minimal, complex, and intermediate and the reimbursement rates associated with the levels, stating that the levels do not reflect the whole picture. Payment is based on the expected amount of therapy the participant will receive, and the commenter requested that MDHHS consider assigning the rates by 'hours of therapy recommended/prescribed' instead of agitation/direct care needs level of the patient. The least agitated patient may benefit the most from the highest intensity of services but under the proposed model this patient would have the 'minimal' therapy reimbursement rate.\* Under the braided funding model proposed, the Waiver Agencies should be considering the supervision needs in their payment. A more complex/agitated patient will get more supervision which should translate in to a higher payment from the Waiver Agency for PCS services. The commenter asked if the language could be changed.

Another commenter asked about a schedule of different levels of intensity for therapies, rates, and if more information was available.

**Response:** MDHHS understands some individuals in transitional residential rehabilitation require different levels of intensity, necessitating different amounts of staff time. Minimal level of care includes individuals who have a Rancho-Los Amigos score of VI-VIII, are medically stable, may have mild aggression that is easily redirected, behavior also is redirected easily, need assistance with basic care and daily living activities. Intermediate level of care includes individuals who have a Rancho-Los Amigos score of V-VIII, are medically stable, display mild to severe aggression, are impulsive, easily frustrated, inappropriate verbalization that require structure, cues, and redirection, impulsive verbalization, minimal confusion. Complex/high tech level of care includes individuals who have a Rancho-Los Amigos score of V-VI, are medically stable, impulsive, display inappropriate behaviors, easily frustrated, have attentional deficits, require redirection, and have inappropriate verbalizations.

The transitional residential rehabilitation rates are set for complex, intermediate, minimal. Rates were originally developed based on an average of 5 hours of therapy per day. MDHHS made revisions to the

rates and underlying assumptions for the transition residential rehabilitation service after consideration of this and other comments regarding the transitional residential rehabilitation service.

- **Comment:** One commenter asked if the waiver application gives a definition of therapy.
- **Response:** Therapy is not defined in the waiver application. MDHHS expects the licensed providers who will be furnishing BIW therapy services to be familiar with this definition.
- **Comment:** One commenter asked if psychology services or neurobehavioral services are covered. The commenter also asked if neurobehavioral was under counseling and included in attachment B. Further, would counseling be billed separately from other services?
- **Response:** The psychology services are included as counseling. Counseling is a separate service when the individual is not receiving transitional residential rehabilitation services.
- **Comment:** Can providers with accreditation from the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) provide BIW services?
- **Response:** Yes. Providers may be accredited by the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA), but MDHHS would additionally require certification as a brain injury specialist.

### Attachment C – Brain Injury Services and Rates

- **Comment:** One commenter asked how MDHHS determined fee-for-service rates included in Attachment C.
- **Response:** MDHHS developed a rate structure and payments for the BIW. The BIW will offer multiple services and corresponding rates. Some services use existing provider payment rates, others require prior authorizations to manually determine the costs for the services, and others required new methodology to determine the rates.

Some of the services offered by the BIW are services for which MDHHS already has existing provider payment rates. The four home and community based rehabilitation services include physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech-language therapy, and activity therapy; Targeted Case Management and Counseling were the services that utilized existing rates. The reimbursement for any home modifications, specialized medical equipment, and community transition services will utilize prior authorizations and be determined manually for each service.

The Transitional Residential Rehabilitation Services were broken down into three tiers based on the level of care needed by the participant. Each tier assumed an average weekly amount of therapy time, broken down by physical, occupational, speech-language, and activity therapies, the participant would need. The existing rates for these services were then multiplied by the assumed hours to determine the rate for each tier. Next MDHHS added in the assumed costs for day treatment programs, case management, counseling, and pre-vocational services that would also be provided in conjunction with the therapies while using the transitional residential rehabilitation service. No room and board or personal care costs were factored into the rates. The provider may bill one per diem rate for all transitional residential rehabilitation services for each day the participant is at the residence. During the transitional residential rehabilitation tenure, this per diem rate encompasses all services except specialized medical equipment and supplies.

The rate for the Day Treatment Program service is an hourly rate that was calculated using data received by Michigan providers that currently offer these services. Rates for Supported Employment and Pre-Vocational Services are rates per 15 minute segment and also utilized data from Michigan's providers.

All rates that had not been previously utilized by MDHHS have also been compared, for reasonability purposes, to the rates of similar services offered by states that currently have an established Brain Injury program.

**Comment:** The reimbursement rates included in the waiver are low and likely will reduce the interest by providers to serve this population. I understand the desire is to get a Waiver in place, show savings, and then address the reimbursement issues in later years. Based on this desire, what rates were utilized in future year calculations included in these worksheets? From the budget assumptions on the expansion population, I am concerned that rates may not have been adequately increased over the five year budget plan since the expansion population expenditures show only minor increases, likely due to increased enrollment instead of rate adjustments. The rate increase should be clear in the proposal and the financial assumptions.

**Response:** The rates were developed by the MSA Actuarial Division, with Milliman assisting with review of the rates. The rates were reviewed again after stakeholder input and have been revised. Rates will be reviewed annually and revised as needed. Any rate revisions after initial CMS approval of the BIW will require MDHHS to submit a BIW waiver amendment and receive approval by CMS.

### Attachment D – Budget Neutrality Form

- **Comment:** The more people you serve, the more people you save.
- **Response:** MDHHS agrees and plans to increase enrollments in the future.
- **Comment:** If you spend more today, you will save more over the next 20 years and the argument is that you spend more upfront. It might actually cost more the first year through intensive rehabilitation.
- **Response:** MDHHS understands the value and cost of the BIW services. Since this is a demonstration program, we will continually evaluate program data to see what data best measure outcomes.

### Attachment E – Demonstration Financing Form

- **Comment:** One commenter asked if the \$2.5 million budget came from all funds or the general funds.
- **Response:** The \$2.5 million budget includes both State and Federal funding.

### Attachment F – Brain Injury Waiver Workbook

- **Comment:** One commenter observed that \$13.2 million is what the state would expect to spend for people with brain injuries next year for institutional care. Is the \$13.2 million for the entire brain injury population or just 100 people? Can we get clarification on why it was \$13.2 million for 100 participants?
- **Response:** Yes, it is for 100 people and assuming 100 people participate for 12 months. The biggest costs are services rendered in hospitals and nursing facilities. The assumption is that 365 days are spent either in the hospital or nursing facility.

- **Comment:** I noticed that the financial hypothesis appears to only look at a one-year snap shot, however the savings are over a lifetime. What flexibility is there to look at a longer time frame for cost savings? For example, perhaps the first year is as expensive as or more than institutional care, but years two through five show big savings.
- **Response:** This is a summarization of the entire waiver application. The waiver application goes through estimated cost savings over the entire five-year period of the waiver.

I trust your concerns have been addressed. If you wish to comment further, send your comments to the Long Term Care Policy Section at:

Long-Term Care Policy Division Bureau of Medicaid Policy and Health System Innovation Medical Services Administration P.O. Box 30479 Lansing, Michigan 48909-7979

Sincerely,

Chris Priest, Director Medical Services Administration